The University of Maine
DigitalCommons@UMaine

Honors College

Spring 2019

Genomic and Proteomic Effects of Red Raspberry (Rubus idaeus) Consumption on the Perivascular Adipose Tissue of the Obese Zucker Rat, a Model of Human Metabolic Syndrome

Jasmine Waite University of Maine, jasminewaite@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/honors

Part of the Biochemistry Commons, and the Tissues Commons

Recommended Citation

Waite, Jasmine, "Genomic and Proteomic Effects of Red Raspberry (Rubus idaeus) Consumption on the Perivascular Adipose Tissue of the Obese Zucker Rat, a Model of Human Metabolic Syndrome" (2019). *Honors College*. 569.

https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/honors/569

This Honors Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@UMaine. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors College by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UMaine. For more information, please contact um.library.technical.services@maine.edu.

GENOMIC AND PROTEOMIC EFFECTS OF RED RASPBERRY (*RUBUS IDAEUS*) CONSUMPTION ON INFLAMMATION IN PERIVASCULAR ADIPOSE TISSUE OF THE OBESE ZUCKER RAT, A MODEL OF HUMAN METABOLIC SYNDROME

by

Jasmine C. Waite

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for a Degree with Honors (Biochemistry)

The Honors College

University of Maine

May 2020

Advisory Committee:

Dorothy Klimis-Zacas, Professor of Clinical Nutrition, Advisor Robert Gundersen, Associate Professor of Molecular and Biomedical Sciences Melissa Ladenheim, Associate Dean of the Honors College Sara Lello, Lecturer in English and Student Success Advisor Sally Molloy, Assistant Professor of Genomics and Preceptor in the Honors College

ABSTRACT

The Metabolic Syndrome (MetS) affects 35% of U.S. adults and is an indicator of early death. While pharmacological treatments have been developed for the majority of MetS risk factors, obesity-induced inflammation remains to be addressed. Dysfunctional adipose tissue is a source of inflammation, and perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) is critical in its pathogenesis. This study investigates the effects of red raspberry (*rubus* idaeus) diet-enrichment on inflammation of PVAT. The obese Zucker rat (OZR) model of MetS and the lean Zucker rat (LZR) control (C) model were used. Rats received an eight-week control or whole red raspberry-enriched (WRR) diet (8% w/w red raspberry powder). RT-PCR was performed on LZR and OZR PVAT homogenates to determine gene expression of pro-inflammatory markers (IL-1 β , IL-6, MCP-1, NF- κ B, TNF- α) and anti-inflammatory markers (adiponectin and IL-10), and ELISAs were performed to determine concentrations of a subset of these markers (adiponectin, IL-1β, IL-10, MCP-1). RT-PCR analyses of PVAT indicated a significant down-regulation of proinflammatory marker NF-KB in OZR-C versus LZR-C models. ELISA analyses indicated a significant increase in anti-inflammatory marker adiponectin concentration in OZR-WRR versus OZR-C models, a significant decrease in anti-inflammatory marker IL-10 concentration in OZR-C versus LZR-C models, and a significant decrease in proinflammatory marker IL-1ß concentration in OZR-C versus LZR-C models. Findings suggest that WRR enrichment does not have a consistent genomic or proteomic effect on PVAT inflammation status. Further investigations are needed to elucidate the molecular mechanisms dictating the pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory effects observed.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you, first and foremost, to my advisor Dr. Klimis-Zacas: your genuine dedication to teaching, mentoring, guiding and encouraging me throughout the past two years has been greatly valued! Thank you for providing the opportunity to engage in research that lies at the intersection of my passions for nutrition and biochemistry, and for allowing me to take on this project that has greatly expanded my knowledge, skills, and confidence.

Thank you to Natalie VandenAkker, Dr. Panagiotis Tsakiroglou, and Dr. Stefano Vendrame for sharing your knowledge and expertise. Special thanks to Natalie for teaching me all of the relevant techniques, answering all of my questions, sharing the lab with me every day, and for your patience and kindness!

Thank you to each member of my committee for providing guidance, encouragement, commitment, and education in a diversity of ways throughout my undergraduate years.

Thank you to each of my family and friends for the abundance of support, guidance and encouragement that you have provided. And a very special thanks to my Mom and Dad, for modeling the value of hard work, perseverance and kindness since I was young.

I would like to thank the Department of Food Science & Human Nutrition Dr. Alfred Bushway Fellowship, Honors College Dr. Carolyn E. Reed Fellowship, Honors College Charles Slavin Fellowship, Honors College INBRE Thesis Fellowship (Institutional Development Award (IDeA) from the National Institute of General Medical Sciences of the National Institutes of Health under grant number P20GM103423), the National Processed Raspberry Council, and the Southport Island Association for funding my research. Thank you to FutureCeutricals for providing red raspberry powder.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
LITERATURE REVIEW	3
I. Metabolic Syndrome	3
II. Obesity-Induced Inflammation	4
III. Model for Obesity-Induced Inflammation	7
IV. Inflammatory Markers	8
Adiponectin	8
IL-10	9
IL-1β	11
IL-6	13
MCP-1	15
TNF- α	19
V. Types of Adipose Tissue	20
White Adipose Tissue	20
Brown Adipose Tissue	21
Beige Adipose Tissue	22
Perivascular Adipose Tissue	22
VI. Red Raspberries	28
MATERIALS AND METHODS	31
Zucker Rats	31
Diets	31
Red Raspberries	32
Tissue Collection	32
PVAT Homogenate	33
Total Protein Content	33
Inflammatory Marker Concentrations	34
Messenger RNA Extraction from PVAT	35
Gene Expression	35
Statistical Analysis	36
RESULTS	37
Animal Weight and Food Consumption	37

Gene Expression & Protein Concentration	
Adiponectin	
Interleukin-10	39
Interleukin-1β	40
Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1	41
Gene Expression	
Interleukin-6	
Nuclear factor-кВ	
Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha	
DISCUSSION	
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	52
APPENDIX	55
BIBLIOGRAPHY	56
AUTHOR'S BIOGRAPHY	69

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Adipose Tissue Characterization	25
Figure 2: Core Anthocyanin Structure	29
Figure 3: Common ACN Compounds	29
Figure 4: Control Diet Composition	32
Figure 5: Rat Growth Curve	37
Figure 6: Average Food Consumption	38
Figure 7: Adiponectin Gene Expression.	39
Figure 8: Adiponectin Protein Concentration.	39
Figure 9: IL-10 Gene Expression	40
Figure 10: IL-10 Protein Concentration	40
Figure 11: IL-1β Gene Expression	41
Figure 12: IL-1β Protein Concentration	41
Figure 13: MCP-1 Gene Expression	42
Figure 15: IL-6 Gene Expression	43
Figure 16: NF-KB Gene Expression	44
Figure 17: TNF- α Gene Expression	44

INTRODUCTION

The Metabolic Syndrome (MetS) is a collection of risk factors that affects greater than 30% of U.S. adults and is a significant indicator of early death (1–4). A major contributing factor to the dangers associated with MetS is obesity-induced inflammation (5). While pharmacological treatments have been developed for the majority of MetS risk factors, obesity-induced inflammation remains to be addressed. Considering that obesity rates are persistently increasing in the United States, with over two-thirds of US adults either overweight or obese, effective prevention and treatment are essential to improve and protect the well-being of citizens (4). This is particularly important in the State of Maine, with the highest obesity rate in New England at 29.1% (6).

An established source of inflammation in conditions of obesity is dysfunctional adipose tissue (7). The role of visceral adiposity in MetS has been explored at length, however recent research suggests that perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) is critical in the pathogenesis of dysfunctional adipose tissue. PVAT surrounds blood vessels and is a highly-active endocrine organ, directly influencing vascular tone and inflammation (7). PVAT releases several anti-inflammatory markers and has been observed to benefit vascular function in healthy individuals (7). However, in imbalanced states such as chronic obesity, PVAT can become dysfunctional and releases pro-inflammatory markers, yielding a loss of the benefits conferred by PVAT (7). Much remains to be understood about the changes that convert PVAT from a functional to a dysfunctional state, as well as modalities for improvement. There is a paucity of studies on whether, or how, diet modulates PVAT biochemistry and physiology for application to this gap in knowledge.

The few studies that have investigated the effect of diet on PVAT biochemistry and physiology used rodent models and high-fat diet (HFD) feeding, with some experiments also employing calorie restriction diets (8, 9). Resultant data have demonstrated effects on adipocyte (adipose cell) size and number, gene expression, and inflammatory marker production upon dietary changes (8, 9). There is a lack of studies on the effect of different diets on PVAT and inflammation status. Studies investigating the effects of functional foods (those which confer physiological benefits) on PVAT are also limited, and only a small number of these have employed berries.

Berries are known for their robust antioxidant content (2). Red raspberries are gaining nutritional interest due to their unique bioactive profiles, with a particularly high level of the polyphenol ellagitannin which has been documented to physiologically benefit cardiovascular health (10). Previous studies in the Klimis-Zacas laboratory have demonstrated the efficacy of a wild blueberry-enriched diet in the attenuation of obesity-induced inflammation, through successfully decreasing PVAT expression and concentration of inflammatory markers in the obese Zucker rat (OZR), a model of MetS (11–14).

This study aims to address the gap in knowledge regarding the effect of a red raspberry-enriched diet on PVAT and inflammation status. The specific goal of this study is to determine gene expression of the pro-inflammatory markers IL-1 β , IL-6, MCP- 1, NF- κ B, and TNF- α and the anti-inflammatory markers adiponectin and IL-10, and to determine concentrations of a subset of these markers (adiponectin, IL-1 β , IL-10, and MCP-1) in the PVAT of two obese Zucker rat (OZR) and two lean Zucker rat (LZR) groups: those receiving a control diet and those receiving a red raspberry-enriched diet.

LITERATURE REVIEW

I. Metabolic Syndrome

The Metabolic Syndrome (MetS) is a collection of risk factors, including abdominal obesity, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, elevated blood pressure, and decreased HDL cholesterol (1, 2). It is important to note that slightly varying definitions for MetS do exist among different health organizations, including the use of weight circumference versus body mass index, and varying triglyceride and blood pressure definitions (1). The definition used in this study is established by the US National Cholesterol Education Program- Adult Panel III (NCEP ATPIII) (2, 15).

MetS is generally diagnosed when at least three of these five risk factors are present (16). MetS affects greater than 30% of U.S. adults and is a significant indicator of early death (3, 4). There are established connections between MetS and elevated risk for several diseases, including Cardiovascular Disease, Diabetes Mellitus, esophageal and liver cancer, and schizophrenia (17–19). Other conditions which are often observed as comorbidities with MetS are a pro-thrombotic and/or pro-inflammatory state, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, and reproductive disorders (1). Therefore, MetS is relevant to a variety of fields of study and medical practice.

Current MetS treatment options primarily involve lifestyle interventions, such as physical fitness, dietary changes, smoking cessation, and stress reduction (20). Medications can also be employed to target certain MetS conditions, including ACE inhibitors for high blood pressure, statins to regulate cholesterol, and low-dose aspirin for heart attack and stroke risk reduction (20). A study conducted by The Diabetes

Prevention Program compared outcomes for patients following lifestyle interventions (weight loss using diet and exercise) versus metformin, a medication for high blood sugar, and versus a placebo treatment (21). The initial screening step of the study was the presence of impaired glucose tolerance in subjects, followed by measurements of blood pressure, waist circumference, and fasting HDL and triglyceride levels (21). The study documented that when compared with placebo results, MetS incidence was reduced by 41% for patients employing lifestyle changes, while it was reduced by only 17% for the metformin-receiving patients (21). Following a three-year period, MetS was "resolved" in 38% of the lifestyle-changes group, 23% of the metformin group, and 18% of the placebo group (21). Certain diets have been documented to be particularly effective in the improvement of various MetS risk-factors and comorbidities, including calorie-restricted diets for obesity, diabetes, inflammation, and cardiovascular disease (CVD), increased meal frequency for obesity, and the Mediterranean Diet for diabetes, CVD and obesity (22).

II. Obesity-Induced Inflammation

As mentioned previously, a pro-inflammatory state is recognized as a comorbidity of MetS (1). Inflammation is a tissue response to stimuli such as injury, pathogens, stress, and the presence of other irritants (23). The acute inflammatory response includes dead or infected cell removal, tissue repair, and wound healing (23). Specifically, the acute inflammatory response is initiated by resident macrophages and mast cells, which produce inflammatory mediators including chemokines and cytokines (24). This triggers leukocyte delivery to the site of injury, among other "plasma

components," which then leads to production of inflammatory mediators such as chemokines and cytokines (24).

This cascade of events enables the "injurious agent" to be removed, followed by the presence of anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution cytokines, and the activity of macrophages (24). These macrophages include both those which are residents to the tissue of interest and those which have been newly-recruited (24). Resolution of inflammation then involves apoptosis and phagocytosis of leukocytes by macrophages, and subsequent departure from the site of inflammation via lymphatic drainage (24). These events all support the transition back to a healthy state of homeostasis in the tissue (24).

Acute inflammation is an essential component in the successful resolution of injuries (24). However, it is when the inflammatory state is either not resolved or is dysregulated, and becomes chronic, that it can become harmful to the body (24). Failure to resolve the inflammatory state can occur when the original stimuli are not neutralized and removed, or if they are removed but inflammatory cells and molecules remain in and near to the site of injury (24). In cases of obesity, excessive adipose tissue expansion leads to some adipocytes becoming apoptotic, which prompts subsequent recruitment of pro-inflammatory macrophages (25, 26). Macrophages are a diverse and adaptable family of large cells with roles in detection and phagocytosis of foreign material, antigen presentation, and the release of cytokines for inflammation initiation (27, 28). Due to their adaptability among phenotypes, macrophages are both very important for healthy repair and maintenance of homeostasis, and capable of contributing to the development of chronic inflammatory diseases (28).

In the case of adipose tissue inflammation, macrophage infiltration leads to an elevated production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (29). Research has demonstrated that inflammatory cytokine expression in adipose tissue is primarily sourced from macrophages, not from adipocytes, which suggests that inflammation is initiated at least in part by macrophage infiltration (29). One theory states that initiation of macrophage infiltration is caused by adipose tissue expansion occurring in concert with weight gain, and the subsequent cascade of events that this causes (29). These events include death of adipocytes, elevated leptin secretion, and recruitment of neutrophils and T cells (29). Upon adipose tissue macrophage infiltration, these macrophages then recruit more macrophages through the release of chemokines such as MCP-1 (29). The subsequent abundance of macrophages can contribute to adipose tissue remodeling, in which the shape and number of adipocytes change (29).

A possible result of this cascade of events is the polarization of macrophages to either an M1 or an M2 macrophage phenotype (29). The M1 macrophage phenotype is referred to as "classically-activated," with inflammation prompting its formation, while the M2 macrophage phenotype is prompted by IL-4 and IL-13 exposure (29). Macrophages with an M1 phenotype secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines, while macrophages with an M2 phenotype secrete anti-inflammatory cytokines and potentially assist in tissue repair (29). Research has indicated that lean mice possess adipose tissue with higher levels of M2 macrophages, and mice receiving a high-fat diet possess higher levels of M1 macrophages (29, 30). Human studies have confirmed the presence of both M1 and M2 populations in adipose tissue, and that these populations secrete pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in the same pattern that mice do (29, 31). Further, it has

been reported that M1 adipose tissue macrophages are major causes of both adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance in obesity (32).

III. Model for Obesity-Induced Inflammation

The obese Zucker rat (OZR) is a model of Human MetS, while the lean Zucker rat (LZR) is a control model (33, 34). OZRs are an effective model for human MetS because they exhibit all of the risk factors associated with MetS (33, 34). Compared with LZRs, OZRs exhibit hyperphagia, elevated circulating insulin levels, hyperlipidemia and elevated inflammation (33). The OZR genotype, fa/fa, causes a leptin receptor defect, and subsequent development of hypertriglyceridemia, hypercholesterolemia, hyperinsulinemia, and insulin resistance, and "moderate" hypertension which develops between eight and twenty weeks of age (13). OZRs become obese within three-to-five weeks of age (33). Only male rats were used in the present study; previous experiments in different studies have indicated that female rats can influence results due to hormonal conditions (35).

The leptin receptor mutation characteristic of the fa/fa genotype causes leptin signaling to be impaired, which is a contributing factor to the higher body weight of OZR (33, 36). This is because leptin plays a significant role in the regulation of energy balance (33, 36). Leptin is a protein produced and released by adipose tissue, with release occurring at a rate that is proportional to the quantity of lipids stored (33). Leptin targets leptin receptors in the brain, with elevated targeting associated with decreased food intake and elevated energy expenditure (33). The levels of circulating leptin are significantly elevated in OZR compared with LZR (33).

IV. Inflammatory Markers

Adiponectin

Adiponectin (also known as Acrp30, adipo-Q, and apM1) is a cytokine produced by adipose tissue, also known as an adipokine (37). Adiponectin was first discovered in 1995, and has since emerged as a molecule with prominent roles in the initiation and alteration of metabolic responses and inflammation, as well as cardio-protection (37, 38). Adiponectin is primarily known as an anti-inflammatory cytokine; circulating plasma levels of adiponectin are typically elevated in healthy individuals compared with in cases of obesity, in which circulating levels decrease (39). Adiponectin can be secreted by PVAT, and has been observed to normalize endothelial function through a subsequent elevation in eNOS phosphorylation, and suppression of ROS generation as a negative modulator of innate immune response (39, 40). The protective effects of adiponectin may also be due to its regulation of energy substrate and calcium ion metabolism (38).

In studies using lean mice, the adiponectin produced by PVAT has been established to exert anti-inflammatory effects that attenuate neointimal formation (41, 42). The neointima is the arterial intima layer that thickens in cases of atherosclerosis, through cell migration and proliferation (43). In addition, adiponectin has been shown to modulate macrophage function towards an anti-inflammatory phenotype, through polarization towards the M2 phenotype, supporting the classification of adiponectin as an anti-inflammatory cytokine (39) (44).

Adiponectin is unique in its proposed role in a compensatory mechanism of action in cases of inflammation (45–47). This compensatory mechanism has been suspected due to evidence of elevated adiponectin expression and concentration in certain cases of

inflammation (45–47). In a study of humans with a BMI less than 25, between 25 and 30, or greater than 30, the left internal thoracic artery PVAT of patients in the highest BMI category had significantly elevated adiponectin compared with those in the other two categories (47). In that study the patients with a BMI greater than 30 also exhibited a slightly improved endothelium-dependent vascular function compared with patients with a BMI between 25 and 30 (47). These findings support the proposed compensatory mechanism, with the potential for the elevated adiponectin expression to have improved the vascular function of those in the highest BMI category. However, it is unclear what exact conditions prompt such a response, as well as the duration of time that this response persists.

<u>IL-10</u>

IL-10 (also known as CSIF or TGIF) is an anti-inflammatory cytokine produced primarily by macrophages with M2 polarization (39, 48). The roles of IL-10 include inhibition of macrophage, Th1, and NK cell activity at times of infection, as well as inhibition of pro-inflammatory cytokine synthesis (48, 49). IL-10 also inhibits NADPHdependent oxidative stress and elevates NO production, which improves endothelial function (39). While this cytokine is important for a healthy inflammatory response and clearance of pathogens, it can also cause tissue damage when present in excess; therefore, the action of IL-10 must be tightly-regulated to maintain a healthy infection response (48).

With regards to MetS, low circulating IL-10 levels have been associated with MetS, as well as with high body mass index and high percent fat mass (50). IL-10 has

also been shown to exert protection against the formation and stability of atherosclerotic lesions (49). In a study that investigated IL-10 levels in obese and non-obese women with MetS, both populations were determined to have elevated circulating IL-10 levels (49). This finding suggests that in cases of MetS the body responds by elevating IL-10 levels, in an attempt to inhibit the elevated pro-inflammatory cytokine production that has developed (49). In the same study, following a 12-month lifestyle program that included elevated physical activity, obese women without MetS exhibited a decrease in circulating IL-10 levels; however, this decrease was not observed among obese women with MetS (49).

Of note, the STAT3 gene is a downstream target of IL-10 (51). The Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription (JAK-STAT) pathway is associated with preventing the development of obesity-associated disorders such as leptin resistance and insulin resistance, and the STAT3 gene is a downstream target of IL-10 (51). The JAK-STAT pathway is key in the development of many inflammation-related diseases such as obesity and cancer, and specifically can contribute to pathogenesis in cases of chronic activation (52). JAK-STAT is also involved in the regulation of many "developmental and homeostatic processes" by molecules such as cytokines and hormones (52).

While no studies have been identified that investigate the gene expression or protein concentration of IL-10 in PVAT, some studies have elucidated connections between brown adipose tissue (BAT) thermogenesis and IL-10 (53). An unexpected finding determined that removal of IL-10 signaling in mice actually caused WAT browning, as well as conferred protection against diet-induced obesity, with elevated

mitochondrial respiration observed (53). The study employed an antisense

oligonucleotide WAT IL-10 receptor knock-down. Research conducted by the same lab indicates that IL-10 is a repressor of thermogenic gene transcription, through chromatin modulations at "key enhancer and promoter regions" (53). This research used a genomewide Assay for Transposase-Accessible Chromatin (ATAC)-seq and RNA-seq, and the findings suggest that IL-10 is a "novel regulator of a thermogenic transcriptional program in adipose tissue" (53).

<u>IL-1β</u>

IL-1 β is a pleiotropic pro-inflammatory cytokine with roles in sleep, hunger, injury response and inflammation (54). IL-1 β is important for protection during infections, however, similar to other inflammatory cytokines, overly elevated expression of IL-1 β can cause tissue damage (55). This molecule is produced primarily by macrophages but is also released by dendritic cells (39). Dendritic cells are most often present on the border between PVAT and the adventitia, but they can also exist within PVAT (39). IL-1 β is believed to play a role in the development of insulin resistance in cases of obesity (56). Specifically, it has been observed that IL-1 β acts through the inhibition of insulin signaling (56, 57). Furthermore, it has been determined that insulin signaling and action in human adipocytes is improved upon blocking IL-1 β activity (56, 58, 59). High levels of circulating levels of IL-1B, in concert with high circulating levels of IL-6, have been determined as a prediction for Type 2 Diabetes (60).

White adipose tissue (WAT) has generally been observed to release an elevated amount of IL-1 β in cases of human and rodent obesity, with expression higher in visceral

than subcutaneous adipose tissue (57, 60, 61). Previous *in vivo* and *in vitro* adipocyte studies have indicated that IL-1 β plays roles in lipolysis activation, insulin resistance, and adipogenesis inhibition in adipose tissue, as well as elevated expression and secretion in cases of inflammation (60, 62–64). It has also been observed that "lipid storage capacity" in adipose tissue, adipose tissue macrophages, and the liver can be regulated by IL-1 β (60). Interestingly, due to the adipogenesis-inhibiting action and adipose tissue-liver crosstalk abilities of IL-1 β , low levels of this cytokine are associated with lower liver weights in cases of excess calorie consumption (60).

IL-1 β is unique among cytokines in that it is not initially inactive upon being produced, and in order to become biologically active must first be activated by inflammasomes via cleaving by caspase-1 (55, 56). Inflammasomes are protein complexes of several subunits that regulate caspase-1 (formerly called IL-1 beta converting enzyme/ICE), which is a proteolytic enzyme (65). Inflammasomes also typically contain nucleotide-binding domain–like receptors (NLRs), and stimuli that can activate NLRs include mitochondrial ROS, bacterial flagellin, extracellular ATP, potassium efflux, and components of the type III secretion system, among other signals (55, 66, 67). It has been determined that the production of IL-1 β by macrophages requires the inflammasome components NLRP3, ASC and caspase-1, but not NLRC4, in cases of infection (55). Due to the ability of IL-1 β to cause tissue damage in cases of overexpression, it is believed that abnormalities in inflammasome regulation and activation are involved in inflammatory disease pathogenesis (55).

Studies investigating IL-1 β expression and content in PVAT are limited, however two studies have been identified (68, 69). One study that investigated human patients

with coronary heart disease documented that IL-1 β was expressed at significantly higher levels in coronary artery PVAT (PVAT-CA) vs. internal thoracic artery PVAT (PVAT-ITA) (68). This finding aligns with a previous understanding that PVAT-ITA exhibits atherosclerosis resistance, and therefore it is often used as an artery bypass graft, due to the nature of IL-1 β as a pro-inflammatory cytokine (68). These results also provide further evidence for the previously discussed understanding that varying adipose tissue depots exhibit varying phenotypes and functions. In a different study that investigated cultured visceral perivascular adipocytes isolated from human smokers and non-smokers, the perivascular adipocytes of those who smoked regularly exhibited elevated P2X7Rinflammasome complex expression and activity (69). This suggests that regular smoking elevates PVAT inflammatory status, which aligns with previously held findings that smoking is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease (70).

<u>IL-6</u>

IL-6 is a pluripotent pro-inflammatory cytokine and marker of M1 polarization that regulates body weight and lipid metabolism at a systemic level (71). It is suspected that IL-6 secretion is regulated by a diverse array of factors, including hormones, cytokines, diet, physical activity, stress, and hypoxia (72). Higher circulating plasma and adipose tissue concentrations of IL-6 are associated with chronic obesity and insulin resistance (73). Despite this association, both beneficial and harmful effects of IL-6 have been observed with regard to each of these conditions, and the many roles of IL-6 continue to be elucidated (71). It is interesting to note that insulin resistance is more closely linked to adipose tissue concentrations and secretions of IL-6 than with

circulating plasma IL-6 levels (73). It is also interesting to consider that anorexia nervosa has been associated with elevated systemic IL-6 levels (73). It is suspected that IL-6 levels are elevated secondary to extreme calorie deficits, however they may also have a role in the cachexia of anorexia due to a similar role in cancer-associated cachexia (74).

Secretion of IL-6 has been documented from macrophages, adipocytes, skeletal muscle, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells (71). This cytokine is generally present in higher expression levels in human abdominal versus subcutaneous adipose tissue, and in much higher levels surrounding adipose tissue than in circulating plasma (75). It is suspected that IL-6 may play a role in the control of adipose tissue mitochondrial content, through the activation of AMPK and subsequent regulation of PGC-1a and mitochondrial biogenesis (75). IL-6 has also been documented to decrease lipoprotein lipase (LPL) activity in humans, thus potentially affecting adipocyte metabolism (73).

Few studies have been conducted regarding IL-6 presence in PVAT. In a study using cell-cultured aortic PVAT from low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice, it was determined that elevated secretion of PVAT-derived IL-6 mediated aortic stiffening and remodeling (76). It has also been observed that IL-6 inhibition attenuates mechanical stiffness (76). Based upon other studies it is also understood that IL-6 secretions are elevated in PVAT of older mice and from PVAT compared to other adipose tissue depots, and that PVAT IL-6 expression is elevated in cases of higher plasma cholesterol (76, 77). In addition, it has been determined that vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) are also a source of IL-6; considering the close proximity of PVAT to VSMCs, this production is capable of significantly influencing PVAT inflammatory status (78).

<u>MCP-1</u>

MCP-1 is a chemokine with key roles in the regulation of macrophage migration and infiltration (79). MCP-1 production is both constitutive and induced by various cellular stimuli, including oxidative stress and the presence of cytokines or growth factors (79). MCP-1 is primarily sourced from macrophages, however fibroblasts and endothelial cells, epithelial, smooth muscle, mesangial and astrocytic are also capable of MCP-1 production (79). The primary functions of MCP-1 are the regulation of monocyte, natural killer cell, and memory T lymphocyte migration and infiltration (79).

With regards to MetS, MCP-1 has been associated with early atherogenesis, and is a recognized marker of endothelial dysfunction (80). In cases of obesity, MCP-1 expression is generally higher in visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissues of obese patients versus lean controls, as well as plasma concentrations of MCP-1 (81–83). Interestingly, fructose consumption has been documented to increase the already-high levels of plasma MCP-1 in obese patients (81, 84). It has also been determined that MCP-1 plays a key role in the promotion of adipose tissue angiogenesis and development of obesity; in mice with an MCP-1 receptor (CCR2) deficiency, fat deposition and insulin resistance were reduced (81, 85).

A limited number of studies have aimed to target MCP-1 for reduction and subsequent attenuation of obesity-associated syndromes (81, 86–90). In a study in which human MetS patients engaged in an exercise program, a decrease in plasma MCP-1 levels was observed (81, 88). Different studies determined that human bypass surgery resulted in decreased MCP-1 white adipose tissue (WAT) concentration, and administration of Atorvastatin (a type 2 statin) caused decreased serum MCP-1 content (81, 86, 87). Lastly,

using human cell culture, the administration of procyanidins from grape seeds resulted in decreased MCP-1 concentration, and administration of the vasodilator Dilazep caused elevated MCP-1 mRNA expression (81, 89, 90).

A limited number of studies have also investigated the presence of MCP-1 in PVAT (11, 91, 92). In a study conducted in the Klimis-Zacas lab, the PVAT of OZRs that received wild blueberry enrichment had significantly lower MCP-1 concentrations when compared to OZRs that consumed a control diet (11). In that study the MCP-1 concentrations of LZRs that consumed a control diet were also significantly lower than OZRs that consumed a control diet (11). In a study that employed artery injury and subsequent thoracic PVAT implantation, MCP-1 increased rates of neointima formation, but in the same study macrophage infiltration was unexpectedly not influenced by MCP-1 (91). It has also been documented that dysfunctional PVAT adipocytes can cause elevated production of MCP-1 in PVAT (91, 92). Therefore, it follows that the presence of pathological conditions in PVAT, such as pro-atherosclerotic factors, has been associated with elevated MCP-1 concentration in PVAT (92). Inflammation of PVAT has also been associated with significant increases in MCP-1 PVAT concentration, while endovascular injury has been observed to result in significant MCP-1 upregulation in PVAT (92, 93).

<u>NF-κB</u>

Nuclear factor kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) is a complex of transcription factors that have roles in the regulation of inflammation, immune responses, oncogenesis, metabolic diseases, and energy homeostasis (94). The

influence of NF-κB on the states of metabolism and inflammation are suspected to be due to the co-evolution and interdependence of nutrient and pathogen monitoring (94). This is in part because it is essential that the energy output required by organisms to defend against pathogens and other foreign materials not disrupt metabolic homeostasis, which could cause starvation (94). NF-κB consists of five subunits: NF-κB 1 (p50), Nf-κB 2 (p52), RelA (p65), RelB, and c-Rel (95). It is the dimerization of these subunits that forms NF-κB (95). Twelve unique combinations of these subunits have been observed *invivo*, and NF-κB is capable of target gene activation following assembly of its individual subunits (96).

Regulation of NF- κ B takes place through localization, using I κ B α (97, 98). I κ B α is an inhibitor protein that causes NF- κ B dimers to remain in the cytoplasm through noncovalent bonding (97, 98). However, upon the introduction of a diverse range of cellular stimuli, I kappa B kinase (I κ K) is activated and subsequently degrades the I κ B α that is complexed with NF- κ B in the cytoplasm (97, 98). This degradation process begins with the phosphorylation of two N-terminal I κ B α serines in the regulatory region, which prompts recognition by the ubiquitin ligase complex (97). The I κ B is then polyubiquitinated, which serves as a signal for proteasomal degradation (97). The NF- κ B dimers that remain are then able to translocate and accumulate in the nucleus where they then target genes for activation of transcription (97). This allows for activation of genes possessing a κ B-binding site, which is a DNA-binding motif that the NF- κ B dimers can bind to (97).

The activation of the I κ K complex is influenced in part by the presence of several inflammatory cytokine receptors, including IL-1 β , IL-10 and TNF- α (94). Further, the

presence of NF- κ B in the nucleus regulates expression of these same inflammatory cytokines (94). Therefore, these inflammatory cytokines are part of a positive-feedback loop of expression (94). Interestingly, in the presence of chronic overnutrition such as obesity, activation of NF- κ B by I κ K takes place in macrophages, adipocytes, and hepatocytes (94). This results in recruitment and activation of macrophages, which is a key step in the "initiation and maintenance of an inflammatory reaction" (94).

The NF- κ B pathway appears to also play a significant role in appetite regulation and food intake (94, 99). In studies using mice, a high-fat diet has been observed to cause ER stress and subsequent IKK*B*/NF- κ B activation (94, 100). Inflammation in the mediobasal hypothalamus then occurs, which can lead to insulin and leptin resistance, as well as central leptin signaling disruptions (94, 99, 101). Central leptin signaling is responsible for communicating states of overnutrition to the central nervous system; therefore, the disruption in central leptin signaling that occurs following high-fat diet consumption can actually cause an elevated calorie intake, and subsequent weight gain (94). NF- κ B also has roles in energy sensing and energy production, which are still in the process of elucidation (94, 102). Due to this connection between the NF- κ B pathway and leptin signaling, it is important to note again the use of an experimental (obese) animal model in the current study that possesses a leptin receptor mutation (fa/fa) (34).

The specific subunit investigated in this study is NF- κ B-1 (p50). P50 is one component of the primary form of NF- κ B, which also includes p65 (103). P50 and p65 are named for their molecular mass, with p50 being 50 kD and p65 being 65 kD in mass (103). In addition to pairing with p65, p50 is also capable of binding DNA as a homodimer, and in both cases has a specificity for κ B-binding sites (103). Previous

studies have indicated conflicting roles for p50 in inflammation and energy homeostasis; some studies using mice with a p50 deletion have observed elevated rates of exercise endurance and resistance to obesity, as well as the repression of obesity-associated symptoms such as macrophage adipose tissue infiltration and elevated blood glucose (104). However, other studies have observed an elevated presence of inflammatory cytokines (including TNF- α and IL-6) in adipose tissue and serum, and elevated macrophage adipose tissue infiltration, in cases of p50 knockout mice (105). Therefore, further studies are necessary to elucidate the specific role of p50 in inflammatory control.

<u>TNF- α</u>

TNF- α is a pro-inflammatory cytokine produced primarily by macrophages, but also by adipocytes, endothelial cells, microglia, and astroglia (106). TNF- α has been observed to regulate a diversity of processes including cell proliferation, survival, differentiation, and apoptosis (106). Abnormalities in TNF- α production have been associated with the pathogenesis of several inflammatory diseases, including obesity, diabetes and atherosclerosis (106). This finding has led to the development and approval of several "anti-TNF- α " drugs for disease treatment, such as those for rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease (106). Regulation of TNF- α at the transcriptional level by NF- κ B and nuclear factor activated T cells has been documented, as well as at the translational level by the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of TNF- α mRNA (106, 107).

In cases of obesity, TNF- α has been documented to be secreted at levels that are proportional to degree of adiposity, with levels decreasing as weight is lost (108, 109).

Elevations in TNF- α have been documented to decrease food intake and regulate energy metabolism, and dysregulated TNF- α expression has been associated with obesity (110). In the same study that employed both cell culture and animal models, it was observed that TNF- α affects the release of leptin from adipose tissue, and the expression of leptin through post-translational regulation (110).

V. Types of Adipose Tissue

Previously viewed as simply a "passive storage organ," recent findings have revealed that adipose tissue has a diversity of functions, including energy production, organ protection, inflammation regulation, and communication with other organs through adipokine secretion (111). Adipose tissue is now "recognized as the body's largest endocrine organ," with significant roles in both metabolism and immunity (26). From a basic biological perspective, adipose tissue is composed of spherical fat-containing cells, with fatty acid transport to and from adipose tissue facilitated by the cardiovascular system (112). Adipose tissue also contains cells beyond adipocytes, including precursors of adipocytes, endothelial cells, blood vessels, fibroblasts, leukocytes, and the stromal vascular fraction of stem cells (25). Specific adipose tissue components vary depending upon depot location, phenotype, and health of the individual (113).

White Adipose Tissue

White adipose tissue (WAT) is composed of unilocular, spherical lipid droplets and a small number of mitochondria (114). WAT plays the primary roles of energy storage and hormone secretion, storing energy as triacylglycerol and releasing it via free fatty acids and glycerol (115). An excessive accumulation of WAT has been associated

with an elevated risk for obesity-related disorders, as well as various metabolic diseases (114) (116). This is particularly true when the WAT accumulation takes place as visceral abdominal adipose tissue, and even more so when this tissue becomes dysfunctional (116). However, it is important to note that WAT does play an important role in the maintenance of healthy human homeostasis; in patients with familial partial lipodystrophy, a disease that causes progressive subcutaneous adipose tissue loss, metabolic complications such as hypertension and severe insulin resistance arise over time, and this correlation has been supported in murine studies (116, 117).

Brown Adipose Tissue

Brown adipose tissue (BAT) is composed of several small, polygonal vacuoles, and has a higher density of mitochondria and capillaries than WAT (114). BAT has the function of non-shivering thermogenesis, in which its ATP-generating mitochondrial activity is harnessed (114). BAT is abundant in newborns, as well as hibernating animals, due to its heat generation capabilities which support maintenance of a healthy body temperature. The presence of BAT is generally elevated with cold exposure, and decreases with age and BMI (118). Although the amount of BAT generally decreases with age, certain BAT depots are maintained and primarily concentrated in the cervicalsupraclavicular region (118).

The dissipation of heat by BAT occurs via oxidation of glucose and lipids, with the higher number of capillaries within BAT providing higher oxygen and nutrient levels than WAT receives (115). Another unique aspect of BAT is its expression of uncoupling protein 1 (UCP-1, also known as thermogenin), which is an inner-membrane mitochondrial protein (115). UCP-1 plays a role in the "uncoupling of fuel oxidation

from ATP synthesis" (119). Heat is generated via uncoupled respiration (120). Specifically, UCP-1 causes a "proton leak" to occur across the mitochondrial inner membrane. This is an alternative cascade route that uses the mitochondrial electrochemical gradient for heat production rather than ATP production (121). This enables heat dissipation from the energy that was stored in the proton gradient (122).

Beige Adipose Tissue

A third adipose tissue phenotype has been observed, referred to as beige (also called brown-in-white, or BRITE). Beige adipose tissue exhibits characteristics of both WAT and BAT, with a combination of large spherical and small multilocular lipid droplets, higher mitochondrial concentrations than WAT, and UCP-1 expression (115). The presence of beige adipose tissue has been connected to resistance to obesity and related metabolic diseases (115). WAT can transition into beige adipose tissue following chronic exposure to cold temperatures, exercise, and the administration of browning agents, including certain foods and drugs (123). The transition from BAT to WAT is acknowledged as a normal component of human development, while it is the unique browning of WAT that forms beige adipose tissue (124).

Perivascular Adipose Tissue

Perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) surrounds blood vessels and is a highly-active endocrine organ, directly influencing vascular tone and inflammation through its release of anti-and pro-inflammatory and vasoactive molecules (7, 125). PVAT is characterized as beige or BAT, depending upon its depot location, which has been associated with several beneficial effects (Figure 1) (125). PVAT has been observed to benefit vascular function in healthy individuals, conferring structural support and enabling the

maintenance of vascular homeostasis through a balanced release of anti- and proinflammatory markers (7, 36, 124). This benefit has been observed to persist in conditions of "early obesity," in which a putative compensatory mechanism exerts beneficial effects (124). The specific methods of PVAT resistance to inflammation that have been observed are attributed in part to an elevation in NO production (124).

Biomechanical property studies have revealed an anti-contractile effect of PVAT upon surrounding arteries in healthy individuals (14). This anti-contractile effect is important for the regulation of vascular tone, and is mediated by the ROS that are generated from mitochondrial metabolism (126). Mitochondrial dysfunction has been observed in the adipose tissue of obese patients, leading to an elevated pro-oxidative status, and affecting tissue homeostasis (126). Endothelial dysfunction has been linked to an imbalance between vasoconstrictor and vasodilator responses, which can "impair" vascular tone and lead to atherosclerosis development (14). In OZR animals it has been observed that aortic vessels respond with an excessive endothelium-dependent vasodilator response, but a reduced vasoconstrictor response, compared with LZR animals (127–129).

Similarly, although PVAT is associated with benefits in healthy conditions, in cases of chronic obesity PVAT has been observed to become dysfunctional and release pro-inflammatory markers, yielding a loss of the benefits conferred by PVAT (7). In the case of chronic obesity PVAT also exhibits a loss of anticontractile properties, which can contribute to vascular disease (7). This loss of anticontractile effect has been observed in both animal and human cases of obesity (130). However, it is important to again note that

in early cases of obesity-induced inflammation PVAT has been documented to exert a compensatory mechanism of action to maintain homeostasis (124).

PVAT is similar to classical adipose tissue in that it contains not only adipocytes, but also nerves, stem cells, microvasculature, and immune cells (120). However PVAT is unique when compared with other adipose tissue depots is its "secretory profile" (124, 131, 132). In murine studies, aortic PVAT has been observed to express lower levels of adipocyte-related genes such as PPARy, FABP4, fatty acid synthase (FAS), lipoprotein lipase (LPL), and perilipin, and to produce lower levels of adiponectin and leptin, when compared to subcutaneous (SAT) and visceral adipose tissues VAT (124, 131, 132). Another distinction between PVAT and other adipose depots, such as SAT and VAT, is its modulated "adipocyte differentiation and maturation" marker expression (124). Specifically, expression of these genes is decreased in PVAT, including lipoprotein lipase, glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GPDH), and perilipin (124). In a human adipocyte culture study, radial artery PVAT exhibited a unique "secretion pattern" when compared with SAT and VAT. This radial artery PVAT exhibited an elevated production and concentration of cytokines and factors of angiogenesis factors and cytokines, including MCP-1, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), vascular endothelial growth factor, and thrombospondin (124).

The morphology of PVAT varies depending upon its anatomical location (Figure 1) (125). Thoracic PVAT is most similar to BAT, based upon "full genome DNA microarray," immunohistochemical and electron microscopy analyses of phenotype (131). PVAT also varies from beige adipose tissue in that it maintains this BAT phenotype even "in the absence of activating stimuli," and also that it does not exhibit

whitening in the presence of a high-fat diet (125). This is contrasted with abdominal aortic PVAT which aligns more with the morphology of WAT, due to its unilocular adipocyte formation and low expression of UCP-1 (125). Another way in which thoracic PVAT is similar to BAT is in its contribution to "intravascular temperature during cold exposure," through mechanisms described above (125). Further, the location of thoracic PVAT is close to the heart, and surrounds the thoracic artery which all blood flows through prior to passing to the rest of the body (133). This suggests that thoracic PVAT is in a region that is highly important for maintaining healthy homeostasis and function.



Figure 1: Adipose tissue characterization varies depending upon anatomical location (125)

The Framingham Heart Study recently reported that high levels of thoracic PVAT are significantly associated with a higher prevalence of cardiovascular diseases, even in individuals without high levels of visceral adipose tissue (126, 134). The differential inflammatory status of PVAT has been identified in recent years as playing a role in the prevention, or development, of diseases such as atherosclerosis (126). In the case of

atherosclerosis, a previously-held belief was grounded in the "inside-out" theory, in which immune cells are delivered to the endothelium via the vasculature in cases of intimal injury, producing inflammation that then spreads out to the media and adventitia regions of the artery wall (9, 135, 136). However, recent findings elucidating the role of PVAT have provided evidence for a newer "outside-in" theory (9). This theory states that inflammation can also begin in the PVAT and then spread towards the artery, affecting the surrounding vasculature (137). The outside-in theory has been supported by evidence of "inflammatory cells at the junction of perivascular adipose tissue and the vascular adventitia," "the lack of a fascial plane between the adventitia and surrounding adipose tissue," and "the extension of the vasa vasorum into perivascular adipose tissue" (77, 138).

A limited number of studies have investigated the effects of diet on the activity and state of PVAT. The few studies that have investigated this have primarily employed a high-fat diet (HFD); in a study using female and male wild-type and AMPKα1 knock-out mice, the intake of a HFD led to PVAT adopting an appearance with greater similarity to WAT than BAT, with an increased lipid droplet size (8). The HFD was also associated with a significant decrease (~70%) in adiponectin content of "adipocyte-conditioned media from aortic PVAT" (8). Interestingly, there was no significant change in adiponectin gene expression identified, which suggests that a decrease in translation or actual secretion of adiponectin is the cause of this decreased adiponectin content following HFD (8). A similar study using diet-induced obese mice observed no changes in PVAT adiponectin mRNA expression in thoracic PVAT even after an 8-month HFD

(8). Therefore, further studies of this type are necessary to elucidate the association of adiponectin presence with HFD intake.

While the majority of PVAT studies using diet variations have been focused upon a high-fat or diet-induced obese animal model, a few studies have investigated the effect of an improvement in diet on PVAT (11, 13, 14, 130). In a study that placed obese rats on a calorie-restricted diet which led to weight loss, the PVAT damage that was initially present in rats during obesity was reversed through a reduction in inflammation and increase in nitric oxide synthetase activity (130). This is evidence of the positive impact that dietary and lifestyle changes can have upon PVAT health. A limited number of studies employing functional foods (foods that confer physiological benefits) have also been conducted to investigate their effects on PVAT. Studies in the Klimis-Zacas lab have demonstrated the efficacy of a diet enriched in wild blueberries for the attenuation of local obesity-induced inflammation in the PVAT (11–14). This improvement took place through a decrease in inflammatory marker expression, improved lipid profiles, normalized vascular function, and modulated oxidative stress (11–14).

A limited number of other studies have investigated the conditions and molecules that prompt obesity-related changes in PVAT structure and function. In a study using wild-type and TNF- α receptor deficient mice (TNF-KO), the consumption of a HFD leading to obesity caused increased ROS generation in PVAT (126). This increased ROS generation was attributed to reduced mitochondrial respiration, potentially due to decreased UCP-1 and antioxidant expression, motivated by increased adipocyte TNF- α production (126). These changes are associated with further complications related to obesity-induced vascular dysfunction. Furthermore, it has been identified that the

elevated ROS generation and increased TNF- α production are associated with higher levels of activation of the RhoA/Rho kinase pathway in vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) (126). Atypical activation of the RhoA/Rho kinase pathway has been associated with obesity-associated vascular dysfunction (126).

VI. Red Raspberries

Berries are unique in their robust antioxidant profiles, with quantities reaching four times that of non-berry fruits and ten times that of vegetables (139). Red raspberries (*Rubus idaeus*) are gaining recent interest due to their unique bioactive profiles (140). Red raspberries also possess diverse culinary applications, which make them appealing and adaptable to a variety of diets and lifestyles. There are around 50 different bioactive compounds present in red raspberries, including anthocyanins (ACNs) and ellagitannins (141). The ACN content of red raspberries typically ranges between 23 - 59 mg per 100 g/FW, with cyanidin being most abundant, and lower levels of pelargonidin also present (139, 142).

ACNs are a sub-class of flavonoids and are colored pigments that confer red, purple and blue colors to food (143). The specific color that ACNs confer is dependent upon their conjugation (distribution of double bonds) (143). The health benefits of ACNs include attenuation of inflammation, improvement of vision, prevention of cardiovascular diseases, and reduction of diabetes, cancer and obesity (143). Studies have demonstrated plant ACNs to improve lipid profiles, inhibit platelet aggregation, decrease cancer cell growth, improve visual function in glaucoma patients, activate adiponectin which
improves endothelial dysfunction, and suppress weight gain (143). Many of these health benefits are attributed to the antioxidant activity of ACNs.

ACNs consist of a core flavylium ion structure, which is a flavanol derivative lacking a fourth-position ketone and third-position alcohol (Figure 2) (143). Different side chains are then attached to this core to produce varying anthocyanin identities (Figure 3) (143). There are two pathways used in the synthesis of ACNs: one which yields the two necessary precursors, and one which enables conversion to a stable form (139). The shikimate pathway produces the precursors phenylalanine and malonyl-CoA, which are then converted to unstable anthocyanidins through several folding and chemical steps, and are then coupled to sugars to form anthocyanins which are more stable (139).



Figure 2: Core anthocyanin structure (143)



Figure 3: Common ACN compounds in plants (143)

While red raspberries possess an ACN content similar to or less than that of other common berries, their ellagitannin content is uniquely high (144). Ellagitannins are a class of polyphenols that are defined by their presence of one or more "hexahydroxydiphenoyl moieties esterified with a sugar, usually glucose" (145). Sanguiin H-6 and lambertianin C are the two primary ellagitannins present in red raspberries, with quantities of 1871 g/mol and 2805 g/mol respectively (145). Ellagitannins have been documented to physiologically benefit cardiovascular health, with effects such as decreased atherogenesis and decreased thrombosis (146). This is due in part to the release of ellagic acid upon hydrolysis of ellagitannins during digestion, and thus improved bioavailability (146). Red raspberries are also unique in their low sugar and high fiber content. Compared with 1 cup of wild blueberries, 1 cup of red raspberries contains 6 fewer grams of sugar and 1 more gram of fiber (147, 148).

No studies have been conducted to date on the effect of red raspberries on PVAT. Thus, considering that wild blueberry dietary enrichment has been documented to confer attenuated inflammation and improved vascular function local to PVAT, it is valuable to elucidate the effect(s) of red raspberry dietary enrichment on PVAT. The specific goal of this study is to determine the effect(s) of a red raspberry-enriched diet on proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory marker gene expression and concentration in the PVAT of the OZR model of MetS and the LZR control model.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Zucker Rats

Sixteen male OZRs and sixteen male LZRs (Charles River laboratories, Raleigh, NC) were purchased in Spring 2018. The animals were housed at the University of Maine Small Animal Facility, individually in an environmentally-controlled room at 22°C with a 12-hours:12-hours light:dark cycle. Mesh-bottomed cages were used to prevent coprophagia. Food and water were replenished daily throughout the eight-week study. Weight was measured weekly using a KD-8000 scale (MyWeigh, Phoenix, AZ).

<u>Diets</u>

For eight weeks, eight OZR and eight LZR were placed on an experimental diet enriched with red raspberry (*Rubus idaeus*), and the remaining eight of each strain received a control diet (Dyets, Bethlehem, PA). The control diet complied with the requirements established in the American Institute of Nutrition's AIN93-G rodent growth diet, with ingredients as indicated in Figure 4 (149). The experimental diet consisted of red raspberry (*Rubus idaeus*) powder substituted at 8% (w/w) for dyetrose in the AIN93-G diet. This percentage is equivalent to human consumption of approximately 1.5 cups of red raspberries per day, based upon the body surface area calculation (150). Diets were vacuum-packed and stored at -20°C in the dark prior to use. Control and experimental diets were distributed daily in powder form into respective glass rodent feeding jars, and both food and tap water were made available *ab libitum*.



Figure 4: Nutritional composition of rat control diet, based upon the American Institute of Nutrition's AIN93-G rodent growth diet (149)

Red Raspberries

Red raspberries (*Rubus idaeus*) were sourced, freeze-dried and powdered by FutureCeutricals as HiActives® Raspberry N116 Powder (Momence, II) and processed into diet by Dyets (Bethlehem, PA). The red raspberry powder was analyzed by FutureCeutricals, indicating a 0.5% minimum total anthocyanin, 1.5% minimum total phenolics, 350 µmole TE/g ORAC, and 10 mg/100g Ellagic Acid. Each 100g of red raspberry powder contained 365 calories, 12.12 g fiber, 44.62 g sugar, and 7.92 g protein.

Tissue Collection

Following the eight-week experimental feeding period, two animals per day were anesthetized and tissue samples collected. Animals were fasted overnight but access to water remained. Animals were anesthetized with 95% CO2/5% O2 for two minutes, followed by exsanguination through cardiac puncture. The thoracic aorta was excised and cleaned of blood clots, and then placed in a Petri dish containing physiologic saline solution (PSS: 118 mM NaCl, 4.7 mM KCl, 2.5 mM CaCl, 1.2 mM MgSO4, 1.2 mM KH2PO4, 12.5 mM NaHCO3, and 11.1 mM dextrose). The PVAT were then carefully removed from the aorta, cleaned of blood in PSS, patted dry and weighed. It was then immediately placed in cryogenic vials (Thermo Scientific, Rochester, NY), snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C.

PVAT Homogenate

A PVAT homogenate was prepared using 5 mL of Phosphate-Buffered Saline (PBS) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and 100 mg of PVAT. PBS was filtered, and then chilled prior to and throughout homogenate preparation. The TissueRuptor II (Qiagen, Germantown, MD) with TissueRuptor Disposable Probes (Qiagen, Germantown, MD) were used for disruption of PVAT, for a duration of 40 seconds or until the tissue homogenate was uniformly homogenous. Each homogenate was then vortexed for 1 minute, followed by centrifugation at 5,000 RPM for 10 minutes at 4 degrees C using a Sorvall RT1 centrifuge (ThermoScientific, Waltham, MA). The subnatant was then carefully collected using a glass pipette, aliquoted into microcentrifuge tubes, and stored at -80 degrees C until further analysis.

Total Protein Content

Total protein of each PVAT homogenate sample was determined using the Pierce BCA Protein Assay (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). BCA Assays were performed using undiluted PVAT homogenate aliquots, and according to manufacturer instructions. Spectrophotometric readings were determined at a wavelength of 562 nm using an xMark Microplate Absorbance Spectrophotometer (BioRad, CA).

Inflammatory Marker Concentrations

Inflammatory marker concentrations were determined using respective ELISA kits. Adiponectin concentrations of PVAT homogenate samples diluted 1:50 with Calibrator Diluent RD5-26 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) were determined using the Rat Adiponectin ELISA Kit (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) according to respective manufacturer instructions. Spectrophotometric readings were determined at a wavelength of 450 nm and a correction wavelength of 570 nm, using an xMark Microplate Absorbance Spectrophotometer (BioRad, CA).

IL-1β concentrations of PVAT homogenate samples diluted 1:5 with 1x Sample Diluent (Abcam, San Francisco, CA) were determined using the Rat IL-1 beta ELISA Kit (Abcam, San Francisco, CA) following respective manufacturer instructions. Spectrophotometric readings were determined at a wavelength of 450 nm using an xMark Microplate Absorbance Spectrophotometer (BioRad, CA).

IL-10 concentrations of PVAT homogenate samples diluted 1:5 with 1x Sample Diluent (Abcam, San Francisco, CA) were determined using the Rat IL-10 ELISA kit (Abcam, San Francisco, CA). Spectrophotometric readings were determined at a wavelength of 450 nm using an xMark Microplate Absorbance Spectrophotometer (BioRad, CA).

MCP-1 concentrations of PVAT homogenate samples diluted 1:500 with Sample Diluent (MyBioSource, San Diego, CA) were determined using the Rat MCP-1 ELISA Kit (MyBioSource, San Diego, CA). Spectrophotometric readings were determined at a wavelength of 450 nm with a correction wavelength of 630 nm using an xMark Microplate Absorbance Spectrophotometer (BioRad, CA).

Messenger RNA Extraction from PVAT

Messenger RNA (mRNA) was isolated from frozen PVAT fragments using the RNeasy Lipid Tissue Mini-Kit (Qiagen, Germantown, MD). The TissueRuptor II (Qiagen, Germantown, MD) and TissueRuptor Disposable Probes (Qiagen, Germantown, MD) were used for processing tissue into a homogenate according to manufacturer instructions. RNA purity and yield (ng/ μ L) were determined using the Nanodrop 1000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Rochester, NY). RNA yield values were used in the determination of total RNA volume taken per cDNA reaction, for a final concentration of 0.5 μ g/uL. The RT² First Strand Kit (Qiagen, Germantown, MD) was used for reverse transcription of RNA to cDNA, with Genomic DNA Elimination Mix and Reverse Transcription Mix (Qiagen, Germantown, MD). Stopped cDNA reactions were then stored at -80 degrees C until further use.

Gene Expression

Custom-designed RT² Profiler PCR Arrays (Qiagen, Germantown, MD) were used for determination of NF- κ B (NF- κ B-1), TNF- α (TNFa), IL-6 (IL6), MCP-1 (Ccl2), adiponectin (adipo1), IL-10 (IL10), and IL-1 β (IL1b) expression in PVAT. The housekeeping gene β -actin was used, and genomic DNA controls (GDC), reversetranscription controls (RTC), and positive PCR controls (PPC) were employed. The RT² Profiler PCR Array system includes the RT² First Strand Kit (Qiagen, Germantown, MD), Custom RT² PCR Array (Qiagen, Germantown, MD), and RT² SYBR® Green Mastermix (Qiagen, Germantown, MD). A Bio-Rad CFX96 Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) was used for thermal cycling and determination of Cq values.

Statistical Analysis

Gene expression relative to the housekeeping gene beta-actin was determined with the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method, with LZR-C animals as the reference expression level (151). Data was analyzed using 2-way ANOVA, with the independent factors diet (red raspberry vs. control) and animal model (OZR vs. LZR) in the Prism application (GraphPad, San Diego, CA). Outliers were removed based upon the GraphPad (GraphPad, San Diego, CA) Outlier Calculator with an alpha value of 0.05. Tukey's HSD post hoc test was also used to further determine significant main effects and interactions.

RESULTS

Animal Weight and Food Consumption

Average animal weight was significantly higher during each week of the experimental feeding period for OZR-C animals compared with LZR-C animals (Figure 5). No significant differences in weight were observed between diet groups compared with respective control models. The average final weight of LZR-C animals following the experimental feeding period was 434 ± 68 g, while that of OZR-C animals was 608 ± 74 g.



Figure 5: Rat growth throughout experimental duration. No significant differences in growth were observed in diet groups compared with control groups. +Significant difference in growth between LZR-C vs. OZR-C (p < 0.05), *Significant difference in growth between LZR-WRR vs OZR-WRR (p < 0.05)

Average food intake was significantly higher for OZR-C ($36.29 \pm 1.05 \text{ g/day}$) vs. LZR-C ($26.48 \pm 0.73 \text{ g/day}$) and OZR-WRR ($35.29 \pm 0.625 \text{ g/day}$) vs. LZR-WRR ($24.38 \pm 0.470 \text{ g/day}$) (Figure 6). No statistical significance was observed in food intake between control and red raspberry-enriched diets.



Figure 6: Average food consumption for animal and diet groups. +Significant difference in food consumption between animal type (LZR-C vs. OZR-C, p < 0.05), *Significant difference in food consumption between animal types within diet group (LZR-WRR vs. OZR-WRR, p < 0.05)

Gene Expression & Protein Concentration

Adiponectin

Gene expression of anti-inflammatory marker adiponectin (gene name Adipoq) in PVAT was analyzed using RT-PCR (Figure 7), and protein concentration was determined using ELISA (Figure 8), as described in Methods. No significant gene expression results were observed either for animal type or diet. ELISA analyses indicated a significant (p < 0.05) elevation in adiponectin concentration in OZR-WRR vs. OZR-C animals.



Figure 7: Gene expression of anti-inflammatory marker adiponectin in Zucker Rat PVAT using RT-PCR.



Figure 8: Protein concentration of anti-inflammatory marker adiponectin in Zucker Rat PVAT using ELISA.

Interleukin-10

Gene expression of anti-inflammatory marker IL-10 (gene name IL10) in PVAT was analyzed using RT-PCR (Figure 9), and protein concentration was determined using

ELISA (Figure 10), as described in Methods. No significant gene expression results were observed either for animal type or diet. ELISA analyses indicated a significant (p < 0.05) decrease in IL-10 concentration in OZR-C versus LZR-C models.



Figure 9: Gene expression of anti-inflammatory marker IL-10 in Zucker Rat PVAT using RT-PCR.



Figure 10: Protein concentration of anti-inflammatory marker IL-10 in Zucker Rat PVAT using ELISA. Interleukin-1 β

Gene expression of pro-inflammatory marker IL-1 β (gene name IL1b) in PVAT was analyzed using RT-PCR (Figure 11), and protein concentration was determined using ELISA (Figure 12), as described in Methods. No significant gene expression changes

were observed either for animal type or diet. ELISA analyses indicated a significant (p < 0.05) decrease in IL-1 β concentration in OZR-C versus LZR-C models.



Figure 11: Gene expression of pro-inflammatory marker IL-1β in Zucker Rat PVAT using RT-PCR.

IL-1β



Figure 12: Protein concentration of pro-inflammatory marker IL-1β in Zucker Rat PVAT using ELISA.

Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1

Gene expression of pro-inflammatory MCP-1 (gene name Ccl2) in PVAT was analyzed using RT-PCR (Figure 14), and protein concentration was determined using ELISA (Figure 15) as described in Methods. No significant changes in gene expression were observed either for animal type or diet.



Figure 133: Gene expression of pro-inflammatory marker MCP-1 in Zucker Rat PVAT using RT-PCR.



Figure 14: Protein concentration of pro-inflammatory marker MCP-1 in Zucker Rat PVAT using ELISA.

Gene Expression

Interleukin-6

Gene expression of pro-inflammatory marker IL-6 (gene name IL6) in PVAT was analyzed using RT-PCR (Figure 13) as described in Methods. No significant changes in gene expression were observed either for animal type or diet.



Figure 145: Gene expression of pro-inflammatory marker IL-6 in Zucker Rat PVAT using RT-PCR.

Nuclear factor-κB

Gene expression of pro-inflammatory marker NF- κ B (gene name Nfkb1) in PVAT was analyzed using RT-PCR (Figure 16) as described in Methods. A significant (p < 0.05) down-regulation of NF- κ B in the OZR-C versus LZR-C models was found. No significant differences in gene expression were observed among diet groups compared to animal type.



Figure 15: Gene expression of pro-inflammatory marker NF-KB in Zucker Rat PVAT using RT-PCR.

Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha

Gene expression of pro-inflammatory marker TNF- α (gene name Tnf) in PVAT was analyzed using RT-PCR as described in Methods. No significant changes in gene expression were observed either for animal type or diet.



Figure 16: Gene expression of pro-inflammatory marker TNF- α in Zucker Rat PVAT using RT-PCR.

DISCUSSION

This study documents that an eight-week red raspberry dietary enrichment is associated with deviations in inflammatory markers in the PVAT of obese Zucker rats (OZR), including significantly elevated concentration of the anti-inflammatory marker adiponectin. This study also documents that among control (C) animals, IL-10 and IL-1 β concentrations are both significantly higher in the PVAT of lean Zucker rats (LZR), and that transcription factor NF- κ B expression is significantly decreased in the PVAT of OZR.

Considering that adiponectin is regarded as an anti-inflammatory marker that is most often present in high circulating concentrations in healthy animals and individuals, and lower levels in cases of obesity, this finding suggests that whole-red raspberry (WRR) enrichment promotes a healthier outcome for the PVAT of OZR (39). As discussed in the literature review, adiponectin has been observed to exert protective effects against endothelial dysfunction, neointimal formation, and M1 polarization through a putative compensatory mechanism (39, 41, 44). These findings also support the conclusion that WRR enrichment promotes a healthier outcome for the PVAT of OZR. It is interesting to note that there was no significant difference in PVAT adiponectin expression in different diet or animal groups. This suggests that post-transcriptional modifications are taking place to affect the activity of adiponectin in the OZR-WRR animals in order to cause the observed significant difference in protein concentration.

The documented significant elevation in concentration of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 found in LZR-C versus OZR-C aligns with that which has been

previously established regarding this cytokine; since it is known that IL-10 is primarily produced by macrophages with M2 polarization, it is logical that LZR with lower levels of inflammation would possess higher levels of IL-10 (39, 48). Further, this finding advances the understanding of PVAT and the ways in which this organ responds to obesity, since no studies investigating IL-10 and PVAT were identified during this study's literature review.

Considering that IL-1 β is typically viewed as a pro-inflammatory cytokine, it would typically be expected for it to be present at significantly higher concentrations in the OZR-C versus LZR-C (55). In the context of classical visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue depots, cases of both rodent and human obesity have been associated with elevated release of IL-1 β (60). Further, elevated circulating plasma levels of IL-1 β are an established prediction of insulin resistance and subsequent development of Type 2 Diabetes (60). However, when considering that which has been established regarding thoracic PVAT, the current study's finding that IL-1 β concentration is much lower in OZR-C PVAT than LZR-C PVAT makes more sense. Specifically, thoracic PVAT has been documented to benefit vascular function and exert a compensatory mechanism in cases of early obesity, which resists inflammation in order to maintain vascular homeostasis (7, 124). This is believed to be due in part to its nature as a brown adipose tissue (BAT), as assessed by previous studies' immunohistochemistry, electron microscopy, and genetic analyses (131).

PVAT is also unique when compared with the secretory profiles of other adipose tissue depots (124, 131, 132). In murine studies, aortic PVAT has been observed to express lower levels of adipocyte-related genes such as PPAR γ , FABP4, fatty acid

synthase (FAS), lipoprotein lipase (LPL), and perilipin, and to produce lower levels of adiponectin and leptin, when compared to subcutaneous (SAT) and visceral adipose tissues (VAT) (124, 131, 132). This series of documented gene expression and protein variations provides further evidence for PVAT's previously established unique nature.

In this study, it seems that the OZR PVAT may be resisting inflammation by exerting a compensatory effect, resulting in a significantly reduced protein concentration of the pro-inflammatory marker IL-1 β . Since thoracic PVAT has a location close to the heart, and surrounds the thoracic artery which all blood flows through prior to passing to the rest of the body, this organ may be highly important for protection and maintenance of a healthy, functioning homeostatic condition in cases of obesity, or at least early transitional stages into obesity (133).

Further, the observed difference in IL-1β concentration is supported by the gene expression of NF- κ B in the same animals. Specifically, in this study NF- κ B mRNA was significantly down-regulated in the PVAT of OZR-C animals compared to LZR-C animals. NF- κ B is a transcription factor with known functions in the activation of genes related to a pro-inflammatory state, with its activation occurring upon translocation to the nucleus from the cytoplasm, as discussed in the literature review (94, 97). The presence of NF- κ B in the nucleus is influenced through a positive-feedback loop, with proinflammatory markers (including IL-1β) acting as both enhancers and products of this loop, which aligns with the IL-1β concentration results observed (94).

The NF- κ B gene expression finding in this study also supports previous knowledge that PVAT exerts protection against inflammation (7, 124). NF- κ B has been documented to be activated at higher levels in cases of high-fat diet feeding, and

promotes the recruitment and activation of macrophages (94, 152). However, by reducing the expression of this transcription factor, PVAT may be acting to compensate against the inflammatory state of the OZR-C animals, thus promoting a less-inflamed environment local to the heart and nearby vasculature.

With regards to the observed modulations in PVAT inflammatory status, it is interesting to consider previous findings regarding the effect of PVAT on atherogenesis and vascular inflammation initiation (9). Specifically, it was previously believed that this occurred from the "inside out," starting with injury of the intima and subsequent delivery of immune cells through the vasculature, which then produce inflammation that spread to the medial and adventitial regions of the artery wall (10). However, recent findings have provided evidence for a new "outside-in" theory, in which inflammation can also begin in the PVAT and then spread towards the artery, affecting the surrounding vasculature (10). With the present study's results in mind, it seems that the elevated adiponectin concentration in the PVAT of OZR-WRR could be specifically conferring protection against atherosclerosis development. Further, the discussed suspected compensatory mechanism involving NF- κ B and IL-1 β in OZR-C vs. LZR-C rats could also have a role in protection against atherogenesis through an outside-in approach.

The significant finding in this study involving elevated anti-inflammatory marker adiponectin concentration in PVAT of OZR in cases of red raspberry enrichment suggests that the nutrient and bioactive profiles of this berry may enhance adiponectin's role in the discussed compensatory mechanism of action. Red raspberries possess a diversity of different bioactive compounds, including anthocyanins (ACNs) and ellagitannins (141). Plant ACNs have been documented to confer many benefits, and adiponectin activation is

notably one of these (143). Also relevant is evidence that ACNs improve lipid profiles and endothelial function, and suppress weight gain, and that ellagitannins confer cardiovascular benefits and protection (10, 143).

It is also valuable to compare findings with the limited published research that exists regarding the effect of berry consumption on PVAT. A previous study in the Klimis-Zacas laboratory demonstrated the efficacy of a wild blueberry-enriched (WBB) diet in the attenuation of obesity-induced inflammation, through significantly decreasing expression of inflammatory markers in the PVAT of the same Zucker rat models employed in the present study (11). Significant results from the WBB study included decreased PVAT concentrations of pro-inflammatory markers MCP-1 and TNF- α in OZR that consumed WBB, as well as decreased concentrations of the same pro-inflammatory markers in the PVAT of LZR-C vs. OZR-C animals (11).

In the present study there was not a significant difference in MCP-1 concentration in any case, with p-values of 0.6258 (OZR-C vs. OZR-WRR) and 0.9204 (LZR-C vs. OZR-C). It is also important to note that in the present study TNF- α concentration via ELISA analysis was attempted using several different concentrations of PVAT homogenate, and both with and without protease inhibitors, however in every case TNF- α was not present at spectrophotometrically detectable levels. Variations in inflammatory marker concentration may be due to differences in the bioactive profile of WBB compared to WRR. The total phenolic content and total antioxidant capacity of WRR are both lower than that of WBB, at a quantity of four-fold and three-fold less, respectively (153). Further, WBB possess a bioactive profile with much greater diversity than that of

WRR; these variations in both bioactive type and concentration can translate to varying physiological effects (154).

In a study that investigated the antioxidant capacity of varying berries, it was determined that WRR (Rubus idaeus Michx) contained 7.1 µmol of gallic acid/g FW, 0.84 μ mol of the anthocyanin Mal-3-glu/g FW, and 21.4 μ mol of peroxyl radical absorbance capacity (ORAC-ROO)/g FW (155). This is compared with WBB (Vaccinium angustifolium Aiton), with 27.7 µmol of gallic acid/g FW, 4.35 µmol of the anthocyanin Mal-3-glu/g FW, and 64.4 µmol of ORAC-ROO/g FW (155). Further, analysis of a WRR extract bioactive profile determined that the compounds sanguiin H-10 (an ellagitannin), lambertianin C (an ellagitannin component), quercetin-3,4'-diglucoside, sanguiin H-6 (an ellagitannin), and ellagic acid to are present at the highest concentrations (156). Ellagic acid is a product of ellagitannin hydrolysis during digestion, and ellagitannins have been documented to physiologically benefit cardiovascular health, with effects such as decreased atherogenesis and decreased thrombosis (146). No studies that evaluated specific health benefits of quercetin-3,4'-diglucoside have been identified, however considering its antioxidant activity it is suspected that it likely exerts beneficial physiological effects (157).

The WRR bioactive profile is contrasted with that of WBB, which contains high levels of the compounds chlorogenic acid, quercetin and resveratrol, as well as over twenty different anthocyanidins (including delphinidin, malvidin, cyanidin, petunidin and peonidin in greatest abundance) (158). These anthocyanidins then become anthocyanins upon combining with glucose, galactose and arabinose to form anthocyanins such as 3glucoside, 3-galactoside and 3-arabinoside (154). WBB also possess the flavonoids

flavan and flavonol (159). These compounds can have a unique effect when acting in synergy together, which is another variable that is different when comparing WRR to WBB due to the diverse bioactive profile of WBB (160). With these documented phenolic compound contents in mind, it is important to note that factors such as environmental and harvest conditions, and treatment and storage following harvest, can have an effect on berry phenolic content greatly (158).

In conclusion, the present study provides evidence that consumption of WRR at a human-equivalent rate of 1.5 cups per day can improve the response of anti-inflammatory marker adiponectin to obesity-induced inflammation local to PVAT, through a compensatory mechanism, however this is with an effect lower than that of previous WBB studies. The present study also provides evidence for the role of transcription factor NF-κB subunit p50 in a PVAT-based anti-inflammatory compensatory mechanism in cases of early obesity, in concert with pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1β. These findings support previous data that have identified thoracic PVAT as a BAT that confers protection against inflammation, as well as prior evidence that berries can be an effective non-pharmacological tool for the attenuation of MetS and obesity-induced inflammation.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

This study investigated the effects of whole red-raspberry (WRR) consumption in the perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) of the obese Zucker rat model (OZR) of human Metabolic Syndrome (MetS), and also employed control lean (LZR-C) and obese (OZR-C) models. The WRR consumption was equivalent to human consumption of approximately 1.5 cups of fresh WRR per day. The age of the rats at arrival was eight weeks, and the experimental feeding period took place for a duration of eight weeks. PVAT was collected and subsequent experiments investigated the gene expression and protein concentrations of seven key pro- and anti-inflammatory markers.

Studies were not conducted to directly investigate the adipocyte phenotype of the PVAT. Previous published research has determined that murine thoracic PVAT most resembles brown adipose tissue (BAT) or beige adipose tissue, with BAT generally associated with a healthier phenotype due to its resistance to inflammation and higher expenditure of energy (125, 131, 161). Therefore, investigating the differential histology of OZR-C versus LZR-C and OZR-C versus OZR-WRR PVAT could provide insight to obesity- and WRR-enrichment-related differences in adipocyte structure and function. The phenotypes of these samples could be investigated through direct tissue histology sample analyses, as well as genetic and proteomic investigations of UCP-1 content (162).

Other studies that could provide valuable insight to the PVAT inflammatory state involve the transcription factor NF- κ B. As discussed in the literature review, while NF- κ B consists of five possible subunits (and most often just the subunits p50 and p65), this study only investigated the mRNA expression of the p50 subunit (95). While this

does provide insight to the presence and functioning of NF- κ B, a greater understanding could be created through also determining gene expression of the other four subunits, or at least p65. A related study could investigate levels of IKB α , a key inhibitor of NF- κ B's translocation into the nucleus, to elucidate differential regulation of this transcription factor's pathway (and subsequent ability to act upon its target genes, including those which were investigated in this study) (97).

Other upstream molecules of NF-κB that could be valuable to investigate are tolllike receptor ligands and cytokines, which can induce the first signaling for NLRP3 inflammasome activation (163). These cytokines include IL-1β that was investigated in this study, as well as TNF-α that was attempted to be investigated; however other molecules that can induce NLRP3 inflammasome activity are pathogen-associated molecular pattern molecules (PAMPs) and damage-associated molecular pattern molecules (DAMPs) (163). It could also be insightful to investigate the gene expression and activity of a greater range of NF-κB pathway components, such as those involved in signaling [such as thrombin receptor (F2r) and toll-like receptor 1 (tlr1)], sequestration of NF-κB for control of activity [such as NFKB inhibitor alpha (Nfkbia) and component of inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa B kinase complex (chuk)], and downstream targets of NF-κB [such as mitogen activated protein kinase 3 (mapk3) and TNF receptor associated factors (TRAFs)] (164, 165).

Future studies should also examine the cross-talk between PVAT brown versus visceral white adipose tissue inflammation. Considering that PVAT is a highly-active endocrine organ with the ability to communicate with remote adipose depots, questions remain regarding how these other depots are affected by both MetS and WRR

consumption (7). Questions also remain regarding the effect of rodent age on PVAT response to red raspberry dietary enrichment. At the age of 8-16 weeks the consequences of MetS are still developing, so it would be valuable to gain data regarding the effect of WRR consumption on rats who have experienced a more extended duration of inflammation (158). This would help to inform nutritional recommendations for patients of varying age and MetS progression status.

APPENDIX

IACUC Approval



Paula Portalatin <paula.portalatin@maine.edu>

Protocol A2017-01-06 Approval 1 message

Paula Portalatin <paula.portalatin@maine.edu> To: Dorothy Klimis Zacas <Dorothy_Klimis_Zacas@umit.maine.edu> Fri, Feb 10, 2017 at 9:28 AM

Protocol #: A2017-01-06 Protocol Title: Role of red raspberries on inflammation and endothelial dysfunction as related to the metabolic syndrome PI: Dorothy Klimis-Zacas Species/# Approved: Heterozygous Zucker Rats/40 Homozygous Zucker Rats/40 Approval Period: 2/10/2017-2/9/2020

Dear Dorothy,

The above referenced protocol has been approved by the University of Maine IACUC. As a courtesy the IACUC Office will generally send out reminders for annual and de novo reviews however, it is ultimately the responsibility of the PI to ensure that the protocol is renewed on time.

All of the proposed methods, procedures, and conditions have been approved AS STATED IN THE PROTOCOL APPLICATION. The IACUC must approve any changes or deviations from the approved protocol prior to being initiated.

University of Maine Animal Welfare Assurance #: A3754-01

The University of Maine is registered as a research facility in accordance with the U.S. Department of Agriculture Animal Welfare Act and the Public Health Service Policy on the Humane Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. The University of Maine holds the Office of Laboratory Animal Welfare (OLAW) of the National Institutes of Health assurance for vertebrate animals used in research, teaching and outreach.

The Animal Welfare Assurance (1) confirms the commitment that the University of Maine will comply with the PHS Policy, with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, and with the Animal Welfare Regulation; (2) describes the institution's program for animal care and use; and (3) designates the institutional official responsible for compliance.

Attached to this email are the cage cards; please post on or near cages housing the animals, thank you.

Sincerely,

Paula

Paula Portalatin, M. Ed., CPIA Research Compliance Officer II Office of Research & Sponsored Programs University of Maine Room 402 Corbett Hall Orono, Maine 04469-5717 (207) 581-2657

🔁 A2017_01_06 Klimis-Zakas Cage Card.pdf

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Cornier M-A, Dabelea D, Hernandez TL, Lindstrom RC, Steig AJ, Stob NR, Van Pelt RE, Wang H, Eckel RH. 2008. The metabolic syndrome. Endocr Rev 29:777–822.
- 2. Vendrame S, Del Bo' C, Ciappellano S, Riso P, Klimis-Zacas D. 2016. Berry Fruit Consumption and Metabolic Syndrome. Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland) 5.
- Hess PL, Al-Khalidi HR, Friedman DJ, Mulder H, Kucharska-Newton A, Rosamond WR, Lopes RD, Gersh BJ, Mark DB, Curtis LH, Post WS, Prineas RJ, Sotoodehnia N, Al-Khatib SM. 2017. The Metabolic Syndrome and Risk of Sudden Cardiac Death: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. J Am Heart Assoc 6.
- 4. Moore JX, Chaudhary N, Akinyemiju T. 2017. Metabolic Syndrome Prevalence by Race/Ethnicity and Sex in the United States, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988–2012. Prev Chronic Dis 14:160287.
- 5. Lastra G, Manrique C. 2015. Perivascular adipose tissue, inflammation and insulin resistance: link to vascular dysfunction and cardiovascular disease. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig 22:19–26.
- 6. Christopher G, Harris R, Spencer T, Mayfield Gibson S, Harris C, Director D, Lakey D, Martinez O, Remley K, Rich J, Co-Director M, Management H, Chair P, Sanchez E, Shah U, Ventimiglia V, Molly Warren A, Senior Health Policy Researcher S, Beck S, Rayburn J, Senior Government Relations Manager M, Auerbach President J, De Biasi A, Ketchen Lipson S, Professor A, Wolfe M, Policy Development Manager J, Dietz W, Kumanyika S, Krieger J, Solomon L, Stagg K. 2018. The State of Obesity 2018: Better Policies for a Healthier America.
- Fernández-Alfonso MS, Gil-Ortega M, García-Prieto CF, Aranguez I, Ruiz-Gayo M, Somoza B. 2013. Mechanisms of perivascular adipose tissue dysfunction in obesity. Int J Endocrinol 2013:10–13.
- 8. Almabrouk TAM, White AD, Ugusman AB, Skiba DS, Katwan OJ, Alganga H, Guzik TJ, Touyz RM, Salt IP, Kennedy S. 2018. High Fat Diet Attenuates the Anticontractile Activity of Aortic PVAT via a Mechanism Involving AMPK and Reduced Adiponectin Secretion. Front Physiol 9:51.
- 9. Britton KA, Fox CS. 2011. Perivascular adipose tissue and vascular disease. Clin Lipidol 6:79–91.
- Jordão J, Porto H, Lopes F, Batista A, Rocha M. 2017. Protective Effects of Ellagic Acid on Cardiovascular Injuries Caused by Hypertension in Rats. Planta Med 83:830–836.

- 11. Vendrame S, Tsakiroglou P, Kristo AS, Schuschke DA, Klimis-Zacas D. 2016. Wild blueberry consumption attenuates local inflammation in the perivascular adipose tissue of obese Zucker rats. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 41:1045–1051.
- 12. Vendrame S, Daugherty A, Kristo AS, Klimis-Zacas D. 2014. Wild blueberry (Vaccinium angustifolium)-enriched diet improves dyslipidaemia and modulates the expression of genes related to lipid metabolism in obese Zucker rats. Br J Nutr 111:194–200.
- Vendrame S, Daugherty A, Kristo AS, Riso P, Klimis-Zacas D. 2013. Wild blueberry (Vaccinium angustifolium) consumption improves inflammatory status in the obese Zucker rat model of the metabolic syndrome. J Nutr Biochem 24:1508–1512.
- 14. Vendrame S, Kristo AS, Schuschke DA, Klimis-Zacas D. 2014. Wild blueberry consumption affects aortic vascular function in the obese Zucker rat. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 39:255–261.
- 15. Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults E and T of HBC in A. 2001. Executive Summary of the Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). JAMA J Am Med Assoc 285:2486–2497.
- 16. Papanastasiou E. 2013. The prevalence and mechanisms of metabolic syndrome in schizophrenia: a review. Ther Adv Psychopharmacol 3:33–51.
- Borena W, Strohmaier S, Lukanova A, Bjørge T, Lindkvist B, Hallmans G, Edlinger M, Stocks T, Nagel G, Manjer J, Engeland A, Selmer R, Häggström C, Tretli S, Concin H, Jonsson H, Stattin P, Ulmer H. 2012. Metabolic risk factors and primary liver cancer in a prospective study of 578,700 adults. Int J Cancer 131:193–200.
- 18. Lindkvist B, Johansen D, Stocks T, Concin H, Bjørge T, Almquist M, Häggström C, Engeland A, Hallmans G, Nagel G, Jonsson H, Selmer R, Ulmer H, Tretli S, Stattin P, Manjer J. 2014. Metabolic risk factors for esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and adenocarcinoma: a prospective study of 580 000 subjects within the Me-Can project. BMC Cancer 14:103.
- 19. Papanastasiou E. 2013. The prevalence and mechanisms of metabolic syndrome in schizophrenia: a review. Ther Adv Psychopharmacol 3:33–51.
- 20. Mayo Clinic. 2019. Metabolic Syndrome Diagnosis and Treatment.
- 21. Orchard TJ, Temprosa M, Goldberg R, Haffner S, Ratner R, Marcovina S, Fowler S, Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group DPPR. 2005. The effect of metformin and intensive lifestyle intervention on the metabolic syndrome: the Diabetes Prevention Program randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 142:611–9.

- 22. de la Iglesia R, Loria-Kohen V, Zulet MA, Martinez JA, Reglero G, de Molina AR. 2016. Dietary strategies implicated in the prevention and treatment of metabolic syndrome. Int J Mol Sci 17:1877.
- 23. Clausen BE, Laman JD. Inn ammation Methods and Protocols Methods in Molecular Biology 1559.
- 24. Monteiro R, Azevedo I. 2010. Chronic inflammation in obesity and the metabolic syndrome. Mediators Inflamm 2010.
- 25. Bai Y, Sun Q. 2015. Macrophage recruitment in obese adipose tissue. Obes Rev 16:127–36.
- 26. Deng T, Lyon CJ, Bergin S, Caligiuri MA, Hsueh WA. 2016. Obesity, Inflammation, and Cancer. Annu Rev Pathol Mech Dis 11:421–449.
- 27. José Ignacio Saldana. 2019. Macrophages. Br Soc Immunol.
- 28. Oishi Y, Manabe I. 2018. Macrophages in inflammation, repair and regeneration. Int Immunol 30:511–528.
- Surmi BK, Hasty AH. 2008. Macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue: initiation, propagation and remodeling. Future Lipidol 3:545–556.
- 30. Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. 2007. Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. J Clin Invest 117:175–84.
- Zeyda M, Farmer D, Todoric J, Aszmann O, Speiser M, Györi G, Zlabinger GJ, Stulnig TM. 2007. Human adipose tissue macrophages are of an anti-inflammatory phenotype but capable of excessive pro-inflammatory mediator production. Int J Obes 31:1420–1428.
- 32. Choe SS, Huh JY, Hwang IJ, Kim JI, Kim JB. 2016. Adipose Tissue Remodeling: Its Role in Energy Metabolism and Metabolic Disorders. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 7:30.
- 33. Aleixandre de Artiñano A, Miguel Castro M, Castro MM. 2009. Experimental rat models to study the metabolic syndrome. Br J Nutr 102:1246.
- Oana F, Takeda H, Hayakawa K, Matsuzawa A, Akahane S, Isaji M, Akahane M. 2005. Physiological difference between obese (fa/fa) Zucker rats and lean Zucker rats concerning adiponectin. Metabolism 54:995–1001.
- 35. Shimomura T, Nakano T, Goto K, Wakabayashi I. 2018. COX-2 Expression in the Aorta of Obese Zucker Rats. J Metab Syndr 07:1–4.
- Buckley JL, Rasmussen EB. 2012. Obese and lean Zucker rats demonstrate differential sensitivity to rates of food reinforcement in a choice procedure. Physiol Behav 108:19–27.
- 37. Fantuzzi G. 2014. Health versus disease as the catalyst for biomedical research: the science of adipokines as a case in point. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 5:136.

- Ouwens DM, Sell H, Greulich S, Eckel J. 2010. The role of epicardial and perivascular adipose tissue in the pathophysiology of cardiovascular disease. J Cell Mol Med 14:2223–2234.
- Qi X-Y, Qu S-L, Xiong W-H, Rom O, Chang L, Jiang Z-S. 2018. Perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) in atherosclerosis: a double-edged sword. Cardiovasc Diabetol 17:134.
- 40. Sena CM, Pereira A, Fernandes R, Letra L, Seiça RM. 2017. Adiponectin improves endothelial function in mesenteric arteries of rats fed a high-fat diet: role of perivascular adipose tissue. Br J Pharmacol 174:3514–3526.
- 41. Horimatsu T, Kim HW, Weintraub NL. 2017. The Role of Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Non-atherosclerotic Vascular Disease. Front Physiol 8:969.
- 42. Matsuda M, Shimomura I, Sata M, Arita Y, Nishida M, Maeda N, Kumada M, Okamoto Y, Nagaretani H, Nishizawa H, Kishida K, Komuro R, Ouchi N, Kihara S, Nagai R, Funahashi T, Matsuzawa Y. 2002. Role of adiponectin in preventing vascular stenosis. The missing link of adipo-vascular axis. J Biol Chem 277:37487–91.
- 43. Merriam-Webster Medical Dictionary. Neointima Medical Definition.
- 44. Ohashi K, Parker JL, Ouchi N, Higuchi A, Vita JA, Gokce N, Amstrup Pedersen A, Kalthoff C, Tullin S, Sams A, Summer R, Walsh K. 2009. Adiponectin Promotes Macrophage Polarization toward an Anti-inflammatory Phenotype.
- 45. Sweiss N, Sharma K. 2014. Adiponectin effects on the kidney. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 28:71–9.
- 46. Dadson K, Liu Y, Sweeney G. 2011. Adiponectin action: a combination of endocrine and autocrine/paracrine effects. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2:62.
- 47. Cybularz M, Langbein H, Zatschler B, Brunssen C, Deussen A, Matschke K, Morawietz H. 2017. Endothelial function and gene expression in perivascular adipose tissue from internal mammary arteries of obese patients with coronary artery disease. Atheroscler Suppl 30:149–158.
- 48. Couper KN, Blount DG, Riley EM. 2008. Infection IL-10: The Master Regulator of Immunity to. J Immunol Ref 180:5771–5777.
- Esposito K, Pontillo A, Giugliano F, Giugliano G, Marfella R, Nicoletti G, Giugliano D. 2003. Association of Low Interleukin-10 Levels with the Metabolic Syndrome in Obese Women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88:1055–1058.
- 50. Charles BA, Doumatey A, Huang H, Zhou J, Chen G, Shriner D, Adeyemo A, Rotimi CN. 2011. The roles of IL-6, IL-10, and IL-1RA in obesity and insulin resistance in African-Americans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96:E2018-22.
- 51. Liu Y, Xu D, Yin C, Wang S, Wang M, Xiao Y. 2018. IL-10/STAT3 is reduced in childhood obesity with hypertriglyceridemia and is related to triglyceride level in diet-induced obese rats. BMC Endocr Disord 18:39.

- 52. Wunderlich CM, Hövelmeyer N, Wunderlich FT. 2013. Mechanisms of chronic JAK-STAT3-SOCS3 signaling in obesity. JAK-STAT 2:e23878.
- 53. Rajbhandari P. 2018. Interleukin-10 Signaling in Adipose Tissue Thermogenesis and Energy expenditure. NIH Grant To Me.
- 54. Ren K, Torres R. 2009. Role of interleukin-1beta during pain and inflammation. Brain Res Rev 60:57–64.
- 55. Kang M-J, Jo S-G, Kim D-J, Park J-H. NLRP3 inflammasome mediates interleukin-1b production in immune cells in response to Acinetobacter baumannii and contributes to pulmonary inflammation in mice.
- 56. Bing C. 2015. Is interleukin-1 β a culprit in macrophage-adipocyte crosstalk in obesity? Adipocyte 4:149–52.
- 57. Tack CJ, Stienstra R, Joosten LAB, Netea MG. 2012. Inflammation links excess fat to insulin resistance: the role of the interleukin-1 family. Immunol Rev 249:239–252.
- 58. Owyang AM, Maedler K, Gross L, Yin J, Esposito L, Shu L, Jadhav J, Domsgen E, Bergemann J, Lee S, Kantak S. 2010. XOMA 052, an Anti-IL-1β Monoclonal Antibody, Improves Glucose Control and β-Cell Function in the Diet-Induced Obesity Mouse Model. Endocrinology 151:2515–2527.
- 59. McGillicuddy FC, Harford KA, Reynolds CM, Oliver E, Claessens M, Mills KHG, Roche HM. 2011. Lack of Interleukin-1 Receptor I (IL-1RI) Protects Mice From High-Fat Diet-Induced Adipose Tissue Inflammation Coincident With Improved Glucose Homeostasis. Diabetes 60:1688–1698.
- 60. Nov O, Shapiro H, Ovadia H, Tarnovscki T, Dvir I, Shemesh E, Kovsan J, Shelef I, Carmi Y, Voronov E, Apte RN, Lewis E, Haim Y, Konrad D, Bashan N, Rudich A. 2013. Interleukin-1b Regulates Fat-Liver Crosstalk in Obesity by Auto-Paracrine Modulation of Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Expandability.
- 61. Shaul ME, Bennett G, Strissel KJ, Greenberg AS, Obin MS. 2010. Dynamic, M2like remodeling phenotypes of CD11c+ adipose tissue macrophages during highfat diet--induced obesity in mice. Diabetes 59:1171–81.
- Lagathu C, Yvan-Charvet L, Bastard J-P, Maachi M, Quignard-Boulangé A, Capeau J, Caron M. 2006. Long-term treatment with interleukin-1β induces insulin resistance in murine and human adipocytes. Diabetologia 49:2162–2173.
- Matsuki T, Horai R, Sudo K, Iwakura Y. 2003. IL-1 Plays an Important Role in Lipid Metabolism by Regulating Insulin Levels under Physiological Conditions. J Exp Med 198:877.
- 64. Jager J, Grémeaux T, Cormont M, Le Marchand-Brustel Y, Tanti J-F. 2007. Interleukin-1beta-induced insulin resistance in adipocytes through down-regulation of insulin receptor substrate-1 expression. Endocrinology 148:241–51.

- 65. R&D Systems. Biotechne. 2019. The Caspase-1 Inflammasome & amp; its Role in Autoinflammatory Diseases: R& amp;D Systems.
- 66. Franchi L, Muñoz-Planillo R, Núñez G. 2012. Sensing and reacting to microbes through the inflammasomes. Nat Immunol 13:325–32.
- 67. Guo H, Callaway JB, Ting JP-Y. 2015. Inflammasomes: mechanism of action, role in disease, and therapeutics. Nat Med 21:677–87.
- 68. Lu D, Wang W, Xia L, Xia P, Yan Y. 2017. Gene expression profiling reveals heterogeneity of perivascular adipose tissues surrounding coronary and internal thoracic arteries. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai) 49:1075–1082.
- Rossi C, Santini E, Chiarugi M, Salvati A, Comassi M, Vitolo E, Madec S, Solini A. 2014. The complex P2X 7 receptor/inflammasome in perivascular fat tissue of heavy smokers. Eur J Clin Invest 44:295–302.
- 70. Stokes A, Preston SH. 2015. Smoking and reverse causation create an obesity paradox in cardiovascular disease. Obesity 23:2485–2490.
- Sindhu S, Thomas R, Shihab P, Sriraman D, Behbehani K, Ahmad R, Stover CM. 2015. Obesity Is a Positive Modulator of IL-6R and IL-6 Expression in the Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue: Significance for Metabolic Inflammation.
- 72. Eder K, Baffy N, Falus A, Fulop AK. 2009. The major inflammatory mediator interleukin-6 and obesity. Inflamm Res 58:727–736.
- 73. Trujillo ME, Sullivan S, Harten I, Schneider SH, Greenberg AS, Fried SK. 2004. Interleukin-6 Regulates Human Adipose Tissue Lipid Metabolism and Leptin Production *in Vitro*. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:5577–5582.
- 74. Pomeroy C, Eckert E, Hu S, Eiken B, Mentink M, Crosby RD, Chao CC. 1994. Role of Interleukin-6 and Transforming Growth Factor-J3 in Anorexia Nervosa.
- 75. Wan Z, Perry CGR, Macdonald T, Chan CB, Holloway GP, Wright DC. IL-6 Is Not Necessary for the Regulation of Adipose Tissue Mitochondrial Content.
- Du B, Ouyang A, Eng JS, Fleenor BS. 2015. Aortic perivascular adipose-derived interleukin-6 contributes to arterial stiffness in low-density lipoprotein receptor deficient mice. Am J Physiol Circ Physiol 308:H1382–H1390.
- 77. Henrichot E, Juge-Aubry CE, Pernin AA, Pache J-C, Velebit V, Dayer J-M, Meda P, Chizzolini C, Meier CA. 2005. Production of Chemokines by Perivascular Adipose Tissue A Role in the Pathogenesis of Atherosclerosis? Arter Thromb Vasc Biol 25:2594–2599.
- 78. Tomasz Guzik CJ, Nosalski R, Guzik TJ. 2017. Themed Section: Molecular Mechanisms Regulating Perivascular Adipose Tissue-Potential Pharmacological Targets? Perivascular adipose tissue inflammation in vascular disease.
- 79. Deshmane SL, Kremlev S, Amini S, Sawaya BE. Review Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1 (MCP-1): An Overview.

- P.C., Mendes JG, Stinghen A, Riella MC, Pecoits-Filho R. 1988. Metabolic Syndrome Is Associated with Increased Plasma Levels of Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein in Dialysis PatientsInternational Society for Peritoneal Dialysis. [Pergamon Press].
- 81. Panee J. 2012. Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 1 (MCP-1) in obesity and diabetes. Cytokine 60:1–12.
- Huber J, Kiefer FW, Zeyda M, Ludvik B, Silberhumer GR, Prager G, Zlabinger GJ, Stulnig TM. 2008. CC Chemokine and CC Chemokine Receptor Profiles in Visceral and Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue Are Altered in Human Obesity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93:3215–3221.
- Catalán V, Gómez-Ambrosi J, Ramirez B, Rotellar F, Pastor C, Silva C, Rodríguez A, Gil MJ, Cienfuegos JA, Frühbeck G. 2007. Proinflammatory cytokines in obesity: impact of type 2 diabetes mellitus and gastric bypass. Obes Surg 17:1464– 74.
- 84. Cox CL, Stanhope KL, Schwarz JM, Graham JL, Hatcher B, Griffen SC, Bremer AA, Berglund L, McGahan JP, Keim NL, Havel PJ. 2011. Circulating concentrations of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1, and soluble leukocyte adhesion molecule-1 in overweight/obese men and women consuming fructose- or glucose-sweetened beverages for 10 weeks. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96:E2034-8.
- 85. Weisberg SP, Hunter D, Huber R, Lemieux J, Slaymaker S, Vaddi K, Charo I, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW. 2006. CCR2 modulates inflammatory and metabolic effects of high-fat feeding. J Clin Invest 116.
- 86. Blanco-Colio LM, Martín-Ventura JL, de Teresa E, Farsang C, Gaw A, Gensini G, Leiter LA, Langer A, Martineau P, Egido J, ACTFAST investigators. 2007. Elevated ICAM-1 and MCP-1 plasma levels in subjects at high cardiovascular risk are diminished by atorvastatin treatment. Atorvastatin on Inflammatory Markers study: A substudy of Achieve Cholesterol Targets Fast with Atorvastatin Stratified Titration. Am Heart J 153:881–888.
- 87. Cancello R, Henegar C, Viguerie N, Taleb S, Poitou C, Rouault C, Coupaye M, Pelloux V, Hugol D, Bouillot J-L, Bouloumié A, Barbatelli G, Cinti S, Svensson P-A, Barsh GS, Zucker J-D, Basdevant A, Langin D, Clément K. 2005. Reduction of Macrophage Infiltration and Chemoattractant Gene Expression Changes in White Adipose Tissue of Morbidly Obese Subjects After Surgery-Induced Weight Loss. Diabetes 54:2277–2286.
- 88. Trøseid M. 2004. Exercise reduces plasma levels of the chemokines MCP-1 and IL-8 in subjects with the metabolic syndrome. Eur Heart J 25:349–355.
- Sonoki K, Iwase M, Iino K, Ichikawa K, Yoshinari M, Ohdo S, Higuchi S, Iida M. 2003. Dilazep and fenofibric acid inhibit MCP-1 mRNA expression in glycoxidized LDL-stimulated human endothelial cells. Eur J Pharmacol 475:139– 147.

- Chacón MR, Ceperuelo-Mallafré V, Maymó-Masip E, Mateo-Sanz JM, Arola L, Guitiérrez C, Fernandez-Real JM, Ardèvol A, Simón I, Vendrell J. 2009. Grapeseed procyanidins modulate inflammation on human differentiated adipocytes in vitro. Cytokine 47:137–142.
- 91. Manka D, Chatterjee TK, Stoll LL, Basford JE, Konaniah ES, Srinivasan R, Bogdanov VY, Tang Y, Blomkalns AL, Hui DY, Weintraub NL. 2014. Transplanted perivascular adipose tissue accelerates injury-induced neointimal hyperplasia: role of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 34:1723–30.
- 92. Nosalski R, Guzik TJ. 2017. Perivascular adipose tissue inflammation in vascular disease. Br J Pharmacol 174:3496–3513.
- Takaoka M, Suzuki H, Shioda S, Sekikawa K, Saito Y, Nagai R, Sata M. 2010. Endovascular Injury Induces Rapid Phenotypic Changes in Perivascular Adipose Tissue. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30:1576–1582.
- 94. Tornatore L, Thotakura AK, Bennett J, Moretti M, Franzoso G. 2012. The nuclear factor kappa B signaling pathway: integrating metabolism with inflammation. Trends Cell Biol 22:557–566.
- 95. Yu Y, Wan Y, Huang C. 2009. The biological functions of NF-kappaB1 (p50) and its potential as an anti-cancer target. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 9:566–71.
- 96. Huxford T, Ghosh G. 2009. A structural guide to proteins of the NF-kappaB signaling module. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 1:a000075.
- 97. Karin M, Delhase M. 2000. The IκB kinase (IKK) and NF-κB: key elements of proinflammatory signalling. Semin Immunol 12:85–98.
- 98. Oakley F, Mann J, Nailard S, Smart DE, Mungalsingh N, Constandinou C, Ali S, Wilson SJ, Millward-Sadler H, Iredale JP, Mann DA. 2005. Nuclear factorkappaB1 (p50) limits the inflammatory and fibrogenic responses to chronic injury. Am J Pathol 166:695–708.
- 99. Timper K, Brüning JC. 2017. Hypothalamic circuits regulating appetite and energy homeostasis: pathways to obesity. Dis Model Mech 10:679–689.
- 100. Zhang X, Zhang G, Zhang H, Karin M, Bai H, Cai D. Hypothalamic IKKb/NF-kB and ER Stress Link Overnutrition to Energy Imbalance and Obesity.
- Ozcan L, Ergin AS, Lu A, Chung J, Sarkar S, Nie D, Myers MG, Ozcan U. Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Plays a Central Role in Development of Leptin Resistance. Cell Metab 9:35–51.
- 102. Mauro C, Leow SC, Anso E, Rocha S, Thotakura AK, Tornatore L, Moretti M, De Smaele E, Beg AA, Tergaonkar V, Chandel NS, Franzoso G. 2012. NF-κB controls energy homeostasis and metabolic adaptation by upregulating mitochondrial respiration Europe PMC Funders Group. Nat Cell Biol 13:1272– 1279.

- 103. Fujita T, Nolan GP, Ghosh S, Baltimore D. 1992. Independent modes of transcriptional activation by the p50 and p65 subunits of NF-KB.
- 104. Minegishi Y, Haramizu S, Misawa K, Shimotoyodome A, Hase T, Murase T. 2015. Deletion of nuclear factor-κB p50 upregulates fatty acid utilization and contributes to an anti-obesity and high-endurance phenotype in mice. Am J Physiol Metab 309:E523–E533.
- 105. Tang T, Zhang J, Yin J, Staszkiewicz J, Gawronska-Kozak B, Jung DY, Ko HJ, Ong H, Kim JK, Mynatt R, Martin RJ, Keenan M, Gao Z, Ye J. 2010. Uncoupling of Inflammation and Insulin Resistance by NF-κB in Transgenic Mice through Elevated Energy Expenditure. J Biol Chem 285:4637–4644.
- Parameswaran N, Patial S. 2010. Tumor necrosis factor-α signaling in macrophages. Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr 20:87–103.
- 107. Spriggs DR, Deutsch S, Kufe DW. 1992. Genomic structure, induction, and production of TNF-alpha. Immunol Ser 56:3–34.
- 108. Tzanavari T, Giannogonas P, Karalis KP. 2010. TNF-alpha and Obesity, p. 145– 156. *In* TNF Pathophysiology. KARGER, Basel.
- 109. Shi C, Zhu L, Chen X, Gu N, Chen L, Zhu L, Yang L, Pang L, Guo X, Ji C, Zhang C. 2014. IL-6 and TNF-α Induced Obesity-Related Inflammatory Response Through Transcriptional Regulation of miR-146b. J Interf Cytokine Res 34:342–348.
- 110. Kirchgessner TG, Teoman Uysal K, Wiesbrock SM, Marino MW, Hotamisligil GS. 1997. TNF-and Leptin Production Tumor Necrosis Factor-Contributes to Obesity-related Hyperleptinemia by Regulating Leptin Release from AdipocytesJ. Clin. Invest.
- 111. Peirce V, Carobbio S, Vidal-Puig A. 2014. The different shades of fat. Nature 510:76–83.
- 112. The Hutchinson Unabridged Encyclopedia. Adipose Tissue.
- Lee M-J, Wu Y, Fried SK. 2013. Adipose tissue heterogeneity: implication of depot differences in adipose tissue for obesity complications. Mol Aspects Med 34:1–11.
- 114. Saely CH, Geiger K, Drexel H. 2010. Brown versus White Adipose Tissue: A Mini-Review. Gerontology.
- Sanchez-Delgado G, Martinez-Tellez B, Olza J, Aguilera CM, Gil Á, Ruiz JR. 2015. Role of Exercise in the Activation of Brown Adipose Tissue. Ann Nutr Metab 67:21–32.
- Villacorta L, Chang L. 2015. The role of perivascular adipose tissue in vasoconstriction, arterial stiffness, and aneurysm. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig 21:137–47.
- Garg A. 2000. Gender Differences in the Prevalence of Metabolic Complications in Familial Partial Lipodystrophy (Dunnigan Variety)¹. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:1776–1782.
- 118. Lee P, Swarbrick MM, Ho KKY. 2013. Brown Adipose Tissue in Adult Humans: A Metabolic Renaissance. Endocr Rev 34:413–438.
- Brown NK, Zhou Z, Zhang J, Zeng R, Wu J, Eitzman DT, Chen YE, Chang L. 2014. Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Vascular Function and Disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 34:1621–1630.
- 120. Saxton SN, Withers SB, Heagerty AM. Emerging Roles of Sympathetic Nerves and Inflammation in Perivascular Adipose Tissue.
- 121. Krauss S, Zhang C-Y, Lowell BB. 2005. The mitochondrial uncoupling-protein homologues. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6:248–261.
- 122. Wudan Yan. 2013. Thermogenin. Work Hypothesis.
- 123. Nedergaard J, Cannon B. 2014. The Browning of White Adipose Tissue: Some Burning Issues. Cell Metab 20:396–407.
- 124. Szasz T, Bomfim GF, Webb RC. 2013. The influence of perivascular adipose tissue on vascular homeostasis. Vasc Health Risk Manag 9:105–16.
- 125. Hildebrand S, Stümer J, Pfeifer A, Gollasch M, Fleenor BS, Thakali K, Pfeifer A, Hildebrand S, Stümer J. 2018. PVAT and Its Relation to Brown, Beige, and White Adipose Tissue in Development and Function. Front Physiol 9:70.
- 126. da Costa RM, Fais RS, Dechandt CRP, Louzada-Junior P, Alberici LC, Lobato NS, Tostes RC. 2017. Increased mitochondrial ROS generation mediates the loss of the anti-contractile effects of perivascular adipose tissue in high-fat diet obese mice. Br J Pharmacol 174:3527–3541.
- 127. Auguet M, Delaflotte S, Braquet P. 1989. Increased influence of endothelium in obese Zucker rat aorta. J Pharm Pharmacol 41:861–4.
- 128. Subramanian R, MacLeod KM. 2003. Age-dependent changes in blood pressure and arterial reactivity in obese Zucker rats. Eur J Pharmacol 477:143–52.
- 129. Oltman CL, Richou LL, Davidson EP, Coppey LJ, Lund DD, Yorek MA. 2006. Progression of coronary and mesenteric vascular dysfunction in Zucker obese and Zucker diabetic fatty rats. Am J Physiol Circ Physiol 291:H1780–H1787.
- 130. Bussey CE, Withers SB, Aldous RG, Edwards G, Heagerty AM. 2016. Obesity-Related Perivascular Adipose Tissue Damage Is Reversed by Sustained Weight Loss in the Rat. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 36:1377–1385.
- Fitzgibbons TP, Kogan S, Aouadi M, Hendricks GM, Straubhaar J, Czech MP. 2011. Similarity of mouse perivascular and brown adipose tissues and their resistance to diet-induced inflammation. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 301:H1425-37.

- 132. Chatterjee TK, Stoll LL, Denning GM, Harrelson A, Blomkalns AL, Idelman G, Rothenberg FG, Neltner B, Romig-Martin SA, Dickson EW, Rudich S, Weintraub NL. 2009. Proinflammatory Phenotype of Perivascular Adipocytes. Circ Res 104:541–549.
- 133. Renold AE. 1965. Handbook of Physiology Section 5: Adipose Tissue.
- 134. Britton KA, Pedley A, Massaro JM, Corsini EM, Murabito JM, Hoffmann U, Fox CS. 2012. Prevalence, distribution, and risk factor correlates of high thoracic periaortic fat in the Framingham Heart Study. J Am Heart Assoc 1:e004200.
- 135. Libby P, Ridker PM, Maseri A. 2002. Inflammation and atherosclerosis. Circulation 105:1135–43.
- 136. Moreno PR, Purushothaman KR, Fuster V, O'Connor WN. 2002. Intimomedial interface damage and adventitial inflammation is increased beneath disrupted atherosclerosis in the aorta: implications for plaque vulnerability. Circulation 105:2504–11.
- 137. Maiellaro K, Taylor W. 2007. The role of the adventitia in vascular inflammation. Cardiovasc Res 75:640–648.
- 138. Chaldakov GN, Tonchev AB, Stankulov IS, Ghenev PI, Fiore M, Aloe L, Ranĉiĉ G, Panayotov P, Kostov DD. 2007. Periadventitial adipose tissue (tunica adiposa): enemy or friend around? Arch Pathol Lab Med 131:1766; author reply 1766-7.
- 139. Kassim A, Poette J, Paterson A, Zait D, Mccallum S, Woodhead M, Smith K, Hackett C, Graham J. 2009. Environmental and seasonal influences on red raspberry anthocyanin antioxidant contents and identification of quantitative traits loci (QTL). Mol Nutr Food Res 53:0–000.
- Burton-Freeman BM, Sandhu AK, Edirisinghe I. 2016. Red Raspberries and Their Bioactive Polyphenols: Cardiometabolic and Neuronal Health Links. Adv Nutr 7:44–65.
- 141. Carvalho E, Franceschi P, Feller A, Palmieri L, Wehrens R, Martens S. 2013. A targeted metabolomics approach to understand differences in flavonoid biosynthesis in red and yellow raspberries. Plant Physiol Biochem 72:79–86.
- 142. Jennings DL. 1980. ANTHOCYANIN VARIATION IN THE GENUS RUBUS. New Phytol 84:505–513.
- 143. Khoo HE, Azlan A, Tang ST, Lim SM. 2017. Anthocyanidins and anthocyanins: colored pigments as food, pharmaceutical ingredients, and the potential health benefits. Food Nutr Res 61:1361779.
- 144. Wu X, Beecher GR, Holden JM, Haytowitz DB, Gebhardt SE, Prior RL. 2006. Concentrations of Anthocyanins in Common Foods in the United States and Estimation of Normal Consumption.

- 145. Klewicka E, Sójka M, Klewicki R, Kołodziejczyk K, Lipińska L, Nowak A. 2016. Ellagitannins from Raspberry (Rubus idaeus L.) Fruit as Natural Inhibitors of Geotrichum candidum. Molecules 21.
- Larrosa M, García-Conesa MT, Espín JC, Tomás-Barberán FA. 2010. Ellagitannins, ellagic acid and vascular health. Mol Aspects Med 31:513–539.
- 147. WBANA. Blueberry Nutrition.
- 148. Driscoll's. Raspberry Nutrition Facts.
- Reeves PG. 1997. Components of the AIN-93 Diets as Improvements in the AIN-76A Diet. J Nutr 127:838S-841S.
- 150. Reagan-Shaw S, Nihal M, Ahmad N. 2008. Dose translation from animal to human studies revisited. FASEB J 22:659–661.
- 151. Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. 2001. Analysis of Relative Gene Expression Data Using Real-Time Quantitative PCR and the $2-\Delta\Delta$ CT Method. Methods 25:402–408.
- 152. Baker RG, Hayden MS, Ghosh S. 2011. NF-kB, Inflammation, and Metabolic Disease. Cell Metab 13:11–22.
- Skrovankova S, Sumczynski D, Mlcek J, Jurikova T, Sochor J. 2015. Bioactive Compounds and Antioxidant Activity in Different Types of Berries. Int J Mol Sci 16:24673–706.
- 154. Prior RL, Cao G. 2000. Antioxidant Phytochemicals in Fruits and Vegetables: Diet and Health ImplicationsHORTSCIENCE.
- 155. Kalt W, Forney CF, Antonio Martin A, Prior RL. 1999. Antioxidant Capacity, Vitamin C, Phenolics, and Anthocyanins after Fresh Storage of Small Fruits.
- 156. Mullen W. 2003. Analysis of ellagitannins and conjugates of ellagic acid and quercetin in raspberry fruits by LC–MSn. Phytochemistry 64:617–624.
- 157. Williamson G, Plumb GW, Uda Y, Price KR, Rhodes MJ. 1996. Dietary quercetin glycosides: antioxidant activity and induction of the anticarcinogenic phase II marker enzyme quinone reductase in Hepalclc7 cells. Carcinogenesis 17:2385–7.
- 158. Stefano Vendrame. 2014. Effects of Dietary Wild Blueberry on Inflamation, Lipid Metabolism and Endothelial Function in a Model of Metabolic Syndrome: A Nutrigenomics Approach. Univ Maine Dr Thesis.
- 159. Häkkinen SH, Sirpa O. Kärenlampi, I. Marina Heinonen, Hannu M. Mykkänen A, A. Riitta Törrönen. 1999. Content of the Flavonols Quercetin, Myricetin, and Kaempferol in 25 Edible Berries.
- 160. Makanjuola SA, Enujiugha VN, Omoba OS, Sanni DM. 2015. Combination of Antioxidants from Different Sources Could Offer Synergistic Benefits: A Case Study of Tea and Ginger Blend. Nat Prod Commun 10:1829–32.

- 161. Shankar K, Kumar D, Gupta S, Varshney S, Rajan S, Srivastava A, Gupta A, Prakash Gupta A, Lal Vishwakarma A, Gayen JR, Gaikwad AN. 2019. Author's Accepted Manuscript Role of brown adipose tissue in modulating adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance in high-fat diet fed mice. Eur J Pharmacol.
- 162. Morris A. 2017. Obesity: New insights into BAT activity. Nat Rev Endocrinol 13:563–563.
- Liu T, Zhang L, Joo D, Sun S-C. 2017. NF-κB signaling in inflammation. Signal Transduct Target Ther 2:17023.
- 164. Bio-Rad. 2019. Transcription NF-kB signaling pathway Pathway Map PrimePCR | Life Science | Bio-Rad.
- 165. Qiagen. 2019. NFkB Signaling Pathway. RT2 Profiler PCR Arrays.

AUTHOR'S BIOGRAPHY

Jasmine Waite was raised on Southport Island, ME where she spent many summer days lobstering with her Father and gardening with her Mother. She later lived in Fairfield, IA, where she developed a passion for health and wellness. Jasmine graduated from the Maine School of Science & Mathematics in 2015 and matriculated into the University of Maine's Honors College & Biochemistry B.S. degree program in the same year.

At the University of Maine Jasmine has enjoyed being a member of the research labs of Dr. Sally Molloy and Dr. Dorothy Klimis-Zacas, presenting at several conferences and symposia, serving as an Academic Coach and Peer Mentor to students in the TRIO Student Support Services program, and being an active member of Cru and Chi Alpha Student Ministries. Jasmine has also valued opportunities to develop her knowledge and experience in the field of professional writing.

Following graduation Jasmine plans to enter into a Masters' programs in Human Nutrition and Dietetics, with a special interest in metabolism and adipose tissue biochemistry. Jasmine plans to eventually work directly with patients in the fields of weight loss and eating disorder recovery, providing education, guidance and support for the development of a harmonious relationship with food. Jasmine also hopes to integrate her passion for professional writing, authoring articles that communicate new scientific findings to general audiences, and collaborating with authors from complementary fields.

69